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STATEMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD
Dear shareholders,
The fiscal year was characterized by a high level of complexity of the external and internal factors influencing
the operational activity, which required a high degree of responsiveness and adaptability.
The year 2021 was the second full year of the global virus pandemic Covid-19 with its national, European and
worldwide containment measures, which made both the demand on the sales markets, the availability of raw
materials and transports, and the availability of personnel uncertain.
After the demand for e-glass products fell moderately in the fourth quarter of 2020 and the first quarter of
2021 and sales prices also came under pressure, we were able to record a noticeable increase in demand from
the second quarter of 2021, which has continued to this day.
Unfortunately, this increase in demand from our customers could not be fully satisfied, as in the first quarter
of 2021 not enough glass of all types was available in all furnaces due to melting problems. These problems in
glass production were mainly caused by raw material changes, which the supply chain disruptions caused by
the pandemic had forced us to make. These conversions of the batch raw materials had a particularly strong
impact on the performance of the E-glass furnace 2.1, the repair of which we had to postpone by 1.5 years
because the necessary financing was not available in the course of the restructuring of the balance sheet as
part of the legal protection proceeding (LPP) process in Latvia.
The company’s refinancing was only possible after the successful completion of the takeover by Duke I S.a.r.l.
and the reorganization of the debt structure with our finance provider SEB Banka. In the course of the
transaction, our company received additional funds of EUR 15 million, which are to be used primarily to finance
strategic investments.
With the shareholder change and refinancing of the company, the company executed all remaining LPP
payments to its suppliers and completed the LPP process three months ahead of the schedule in July 2021. It
allowed the company to normalize its relationships with suppliers and agree on open payment terms with
majority of them. The company now makes all payments on time.
Furthermore, several capital measures were taken with the new main shareholders, which improved our
balance sheet equity from -36% in January 2021 to +18% today. These measures will enable us to regain the
lost reputation with our stakeholders such as finance providers, credit insurers, suppliers, government
institutions and enable us to take advantage of subsidy programs, government support and supplier discounts
and bonuses.
The additional financing has also enabled us to carry out the planned repair of furnace 2.1 in September 2021
in record time. With the repair of the furnace, we were able to completely revise the installations and increase
the melting capacity by approx. 10% to 55 tons/day and shift the consumption structure of the energy sources
in favor of electrical energy.
These additional capacities were gratefully received by our sales markets, so that from the 3rd quarter of 2021
we were able to participate in the increasing demand and rising sales prices. Here we are particularly helped
by the tense transport situation for competing products from Asia, as well as the return to European supply
chains by our and potential new customers. During the pandemic, European industrial consumers of glass
fibers in particular have noticed that Asian suppliers cannot react to fluctuations in demand and short-term
changes and that incalculable transport costs in the amount of sometimes the price of the goods are not
compatible with their business models.
With the reorientation of the sales markets in the middle of last year, sales prices only know one direction,
namely upwards. We already started in the third quarter of 2021 to increase prices by up to 20% against the
market on average. We had to do this because another development had become permanent, the increase in
the price of gas and electricity. Despite partly weekly tenders in 2021 on the energy markets, we could not find
an opportunity to conclude purchase prices close to the 2021 contract prices. We have therefore decided to
go into 2022 largely unsecured and buy our energy on the spot markets. We passed on the resulting gas and
electricity cost increases of 200% on average through further price increases in 2021 and 2022, which was
generally accepted because the entire industry had to cope with such a development.
We also felt the effects of the pandemic in the form of reduced staff availability. We were not able to take
advantage of all market opportunities because we were unable to make full use of our glass processing
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capacities due to a lack of personnel. The extensive infection protection measures in the company and by the
state led to sick leave of up to 12%, a level that could not be covered with overtime. The internal measures in
particular, which went beyond the measures required by the state at an early stage, have prevented higher
levels of sick leave.
With the furnace repairs and the stabilization of production at a high level, the earnings situation was improved
and stabilized at the planned level. The resulting cash inflows have enabled us to make strategic investments
and work on the general improvement of manufacturing facilities and infrastructure.
From December 2021 till today, the development of price and cost increases has gained additional momentum,
which is essentially driven by the geopolitical turmoil. Due to our geographic location, we were also forced to
increase our risk management and to reconsider our supplier structure. Since March 2022 we have completely
stopped sourcing materials from Russia and Belarus and are not delivering our products to these markets until
further notice of the authorities.
We see the 2021 financial year as a year of transition in several respects. The change of the shareholder to a
financial investor, the gradual end of the infection control measures and the extreme increase in the price of
energy resources will change our company permanently. The careful handling of material and energy, the
efficient use of resources will continue to gain an importance and make us more environmentally friendly in
the long term, but also forces us to work on our product portfolio. The reorientation of our sales markets
towards local partnerships offers us opportunities, but also requires additional investments in customer
service and development of partnerships.
In principle, we view the development positively, despite the reactionary geopolitics on which the changes are
based on. With the changes achieved in 2021 and 2022, we are ready to use the opportunities profitably for
all stakeholders in the company and to increase the value of the company in the long term.

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel
Chairman of the Management board
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GENERAL INFORMATION
AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA and its subsidiary VALMIERA GLASS UK Ltd (hereinafter both together –
VALMIERA GLASS GROUP or GROUP) is one of the leading glass fibre manufacturers in Europe with 58 years of
experience in the production of glass fibre. GROUP's core business area is glass fibre production, which
includes glass fibre research, glass fibre product development and trade.
The GROUP is the only group in the world with a vertically integrated structure and a wide range of glass fibre
products for the thermal insulation market, with temperature resistance up to 1250°C. AS VALMIERAS STIKLA
ŠĶIEDRA specializes in manufacturing glass fibre and glass fibre products using three different types of glass:
• E-glass with a temperature resistance of 600+°C;
• HR-glass with a temperature resistance of 800+°C;
• SiO2-glass with a temperature resistance of 1000+°C.
The glass fibre products of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA are used for further processing, in electrical, thermal
and acoustic insulation materials and as finished materials in mechanical engineering, construction and
elsewhere. VALMIERA GLASS UK Ltd. produces glass fibre products for the aviation industry, thermal insulation
applications and architecture and specializes in glass fibre weaving, using techniques of fabric coating and
laminating.
At the beginning of the reporting year, the GROUP consisted of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA, its subsidiary
VALMIERA GLASS UK Ltd. in the United Kingdom, and its subsidiaries registered in the United States of America
P-D VALMIERA GLASS USA Corp. and VALMIERA GLASS USA Trading Corp. (on January 1, 2021, both companies
registered in the USA had already stopped their business activity). As a logical step, that is related to the
decision to stop the GROUPS’ business in the USA and the conclusion of the Asset Purchase Agreement from
June 2, 2020, subsidiaries P-D VALMIERA GLASS USA Corp. (Reg. No. 14036662) and P-D VALMIERA GLASS USA
Trading Corp. (Reg. No. 14036664) both have been dissolved on February 15, 2021, and on February 11, 2021,
respectively. After this process, VALMIERA GLASS GROUP consisting of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA and
VALMIERA GLASS UK Ltd. continues to operate in the usual manner.
One of the main occasions shaping the year 2021 is the change of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA shareholders.
That has brought a positive company development trend and played a key role in restoring financial stability.
When on February 18, 2021, all the preconditions mentioned in the share sell and purchase agreement from
October 28, 2020, were fulfilled, this agreement, signed by the controlling shareholders of AS VALMIERAS
STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA and the company Duke I S.à r.l. became valid. Based on the agreement the company Duke I
S.à r.l. bought 19 872 715 or 83,14% of the AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA shares by the contract amount of
10 896 209,63 EUR. As a result of the change of shareholders, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA attracted
additional financing and refinanced existing credit liabilities. The company's solvency was restored and
overdue debts were settled.
During the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on March 29, 2021, the shareholders decided to
exclude all bearer shares of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA from the JSC Nasdaq Riga Baltic Second list. On
June 8, 2021, JSC Nasdaq Riga made a decision to confirm this application and the last listing day was set to
June 18, 2021.
By the decision of the Financial and Capital Market Commission made on April 13, 2021, Duke I S.à r.l. was
authorized to make a mandatory buyout offer to the shareholders of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA. As a
result of the mandatory buyout, the Duke I S.à r.l. owns 84.07% of the company's share capital and voting
shares.
In mid-2021, two important steps were subsequently taken to restore the company's effective solvency and
legal status as a solvent company. On July 13, 2021, two months before the end of the regular procedure, the
legal protection process (LPP) was closed. After closure of LPP process, actions were taken to restore a positive
equity ratio and to restore the equity structure through changes in equity.
After changing its equity capital, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA will no longer be legally considered as a
company facing difficulties and will be able to participate in projects involving EU funds, thereby reducing its
production costs and improving return on investments, as well as obtaining better payment conditions in
relations with its suppliers and finding better financing options with credit institutions. All of this will contribute
to the overall development of the company, its competitiveness in the glass fibre industry and sustainability in
the market of glass fibre products
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MARKETS
In 2021 we have seen a significant and fast recovering process for all major industries we are serving. The
Aerospace market did recover faster than expected – especially caused by changes of the Aircraft fleet - smaller
and more efficient planes became of higher interest, rather than big aircrafts for international overseas travels,
such as Asia and America because these regions were still affected from partial shut- and/or lockdowns, so
additional composite material was needed to build new aircrafts.
With our Silica product range, we could make further progress in the very attractive automotive industry and
could participate on Battery protection system developments despite further ongoing demands for fabrics
mats and fibers.
For our core E glass market Europe, we had already huge demands and orders in January for thermal insulation
applications, raw materials and construction market and during the first quarter we were completely sold out.
Broken supply chains from Asia to Europe, in addition much lower availability of fiber glass material due to
high demanding electronical industries turned the economy from slow recovering in high demanding in less
than 3 months. In addition, we were struggling with a scheduled cold repair of furnace number 2 in late
summer which caused an additional shortfall of quantities served into our markets, so allocation became
unfortunately the main driver and we could not serve our customers in a full satisfying way as expected
because we lost almost 3500 tons of capacity during the year. Nevertheless, market and product concentration
did help us, achieving our original Budget for 2021 and with a strong support from our customers, we could
successfully continue our turnaround after two difficult years.
In 2021, products manufactured by the GROUP’s Parent Company were exported to 50 countries across the
world, with the export share of 96%. The majority with 80% of the total output was sold in European Union
countries as biggest market, 10% in North America, 2% in CIS countries and 8% in other export countries (incl.
Switzerland, Japan, South Korea, Macedonia, UAE, etc.)
KEY SALES MARKETS OF THE GROUP
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EMPLOYEES
In 2021, the average number of employees in the continuing operations of the GROUP were 1,266 of which
1,146 people (62.8% men and 37.2% women) work at AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA. VALMIERA GLASS UK
Ltd. employed 120 employees on average (80.5% men, 19.5% women).
There is a large share of male employees in the HR structure of the GROUP, the share of male employees is
explained by specifics of work - moving / lifting heavy loads without mechanical aids and technical
maintenance of equipment.
In the UK there are 97.5% full time employees and 2.5% part-time employees, because of their personal
reasons, in Latvia 1% is part-time employees based on work specification - cleaners and nurses. The average
employee turnover was 20.9% (2020: 24.3%), indicating the lowest percentage in four years in Latvia, and 5.7%
(2020: 14.6%) in the UK. Employee annual turnover has decreased in both companies – in Latvia, and in the
UK.
2021 was a challenging year due to the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic, with the introduction and
compliance with national conditions and very high morbidity rates, which also affected production volumes,
especially in the UK.
QUALITY MANAGEMENT
All the companies of the GROUP operate in accordance with the Quality Management System Standard ISO
9001:2015. The GROUP’s Parent Company additionally is certified in accordance with the requirements of
Energy Management Standard ISO 50001:2011, Environment Management Standard ISO 14001:2015 and ISO
45001:2018 – Occupational health and safety management systems.
INVESTMENTS
In 2021, the Group’s Parent Company’s capital expenditure amounted to EUR 14.2 million. During the year,
the company mainly focused on sustaining of its current manufacturing capacities by capital reconstruction of
both E-glass melting furnace No. 2, and climate and automatic control system of the bobbin warehouse. The
Company also invested in development of additional production capacities – acquisition of new steel wire
cabled yarn and plied yarn production lines. Significant funds in the amount of EUR 2.2 million were also
invested in other projects such as energy efficiency improvements, enhancement of the Company’s
management information system, environmental protection infrastructure, improvements of workplace
environment, compliance with fire and civil protection regulations, and other maintenance projects.
It must be noted that the Group’s Parent Company managed to renovate the glass melting furnace in 45 days
“glass-to-glass”, reaching the target production capacity in a record time, which positively affected the
Company's financial performance and competitive position in 2021.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
MAIN FINANCIAL INDICATORS OF THE GROUP *
TEUR

2017

2018

2019

2020*

2021

Revenue

125 864

114 245

99 165

95 840

104 578

EBITDA

18 441

(99 045)

8 312

13 684

14 338

EBIT

7 317

(113 607)

(1 620)

5 192

6 236

Net profit/ (loss) attributable
to the owners of the Parent

7 053

(58 233)

(3 802)

(2 260)

5 289

Sales growth,%

0.8%

(9.2%)

(22.4%)

(3.4%)

9.1%

14.7%

(86.7%)

8.4%

14.3%

13.7%

EBIT margin, %

5.8%

(99.4%)

(1.6%)

5.4%

6.0%

Net profit margin, %

5.6%

(51.0%)

(3.8%)

(2.4%)

5.1%

10.8%

(184.6%)

14.9%

4.9%

(41.0%)

ROA,%

4.1%

(54.3%)

(6.7%)

(2.3%)

5.7%

ROCE,%

9.2%

(363.7%)

(5.3%)

(15.7%)

7.5%

Current ratio

0.35

0.58

0.44

0.27

2.44

0.2951

(2.3807)

(0.1590)

(1.7130)

0.0109

EBITDA margin, %

ROE,%**

Earnings per share (EUR)

* Financial indicators of the Group’s continuing operations. Please also see Note 17 Discontinued operations
MAIN FINANCIAL INDICATORS OF THE GROUP’S PARENT COMPANY
TEUR

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Revenue

104 039

90 549

88 693

83 207

90 526

EBITDA

14 020

(81 780)

11 501

13 368

13 011

EBIT

3 866

(91 709)

5 523

4 287

5 280

Net profit/ (loss)

4 252

(92 568)

(386)

(3 389)

4 841

Sales growth,%

2.6%

(13.0%)

(2.0%)

(6.2%)

8.8%

13.5%

(90.3%)

13.0%

16.1%

14.4%

EBIT margin, %

3.7%

(101.3%)

6.2%

5.6%

5.8%

Net profit margin, %

4.1%

(102.2%)

(0.4%)

(4.1%)

5.4%

ROE,%**

7.5%

(720.5%)

1.1%

8.9%

(29.3%)

ROA,%

2.4%

(97.9%)

(0.4%)

(3.7%)

5.0%

ROCE,%

5.8%

(229.0%)

(1.1%)

10.3%

5.9%

Current ratio

0.48

0.42

0.55

0.20

1.6

0.1779

(3.85)

(0.0166)

(0.1454)

0.0093

EBITDA margin, %

Earnings per share (EUR)

*Financial indicators of the Group’s continuing operations. Please also see Note 17 Discontinued operations.
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** ROE is calculated dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders with the average shareholder’s
equity of the year. In 2021, the operations of both the Group and the Group’s Parent Company were profitable.
However, due to the significantly negative shareholders’ equity in the beginning of the reporting period,
average shareholders’ equity is negative. It leads to negative and non-representative ROE calculation result for
2021.
Definition of Alternative Performance Measures

Formulas of APM

EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

Operating profit +
depreciation and
amortisation

EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxes.

Operating profit

Net profit (loss): The difference between the company’s total revenue and expenses in a given
period of time.

Profit for the year
attributable to owners of
the Parent Company

ROA, %: Indicates how profitable a company is in relation to its total assets. The indicator
reflects how effectively company uses its assets to generate profit.

Net profit / (loss) /
Average total assets for
the period

ROE, %: The indicator gauges the company’s profitability and how efficient is in generating
profits in relation to its equity.

Net profit / (loss) /
Average total equity for
the period

ROCE, %: Measures how efficient a company is generating profits from its capital.

Operating profit / (Total
assets - current liabilities)

EBITDA margin, %: Measures the company’s profitability from operations before depreciation
and amortization.

EBITDA / Net sales

EBIT margin, %: Measures the company’s profitability without taking into account the effect of
interest and taxes.

EBIT / Net sales

Net profit margin, %: Measures how much profit is generated as a percentage of revenue. The
indicator illustrates how much of each euro in revenue of a company translates into profit.

Net profit / (loss) / Net
sales

Earnings per share (EUR): An indicator of the company’s profitability from a shareholders’
perspective, which illustrates the amount of a company's profit allocated to each share of
common stock.

Net profit / (loss) /
Weighted average
number of common
shares during the
reporting period

Current ratio: The ratio compares a company’s current assets to its current liabilities, and
measures the company’s ability to meet is short-term obligations.

Current assets / Current
liabilities

The above - described alternative performance measures (‘APM’) are used by the GROUP’s
management to evaluate the GROUP's performance for a particular financial period. These APM are
also used to make decisions.
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LEGAL PROTECTION PROCEEDING (LPP) IN THE GROUP’S PARENT COMPANY
The aim of initiation of Legal Protection Process (LPP) in 2019 was to develop an appropriate action plan that
will enable AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA to pursue a sustainable development in the interests of all parties
involved. The LPP plan was originally concluded for two years and the process was due to be completed in
October 2021.
After the successful attraction of the investor and refinancing of the existing liabilities at the end of 2020 and
the beginning of 2021, on June 21, 2021, three months earlier than initially planned, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA
ŠĶIEDRA made all payments to LPP's creditors in full.
Based on the AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA application to the Vidzeme District Court (Vidzemes rajona tiesa)
for termination of the legal protection process of the AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA from June 28, 2021, on
July 13, 2021 the Vidzeme District Court (Vidzemes rajona tiesa) took a decision to terminate the LPP.
CHANGES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
In 2018, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA announced the failure of its subsidiary P-D VALMIERA GLASS USA Corp.
business project and reported losses with a book value of 98.4 million euro in its accounting records. As a result
of those losses, total AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA losses in 2018 amounted to 92.6 million euro and its
equity became negative at -36.7 million euro.
To tackle this difficult situation, in 2019, the company went into administration while actively working to find
investors. In 2021, the controlling interest of the company was sold to the financial investor Duke I S.a.r.l.
which helped to reorganize the debts of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA.
After de facto restoration of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA solvency, the goal of management was to restore
AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA’s legal status as a solvent company to regain the trust of its suppliers and
customers and improve cooperation conditions to boost its competitiveness in the glass fibre industry. The
first step on the way to this goal was to repay all the debts to creditors that were delayed or deferred under
the administration plan and come out of the administration as soon as possible.
The next step was to get its equity back to positive and improve the structure of the equity. Besides, pursuant
to the EU regulations, accrued losses cannot exceed 50% of the company’s authorised share capital. If this
requirement is not met, the company is classified as a company facing difficulties and cannot apply for any
investment, research or other project co-financing from European Union funds. Currently, AS VALMIERAS
STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA is working on a number of investment projects and plans to apply for financing from EU funds
to cut the company’s costs and maximise the return on investments and its competitiveness in the interests of
both the company and its shareholders.
AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA equity changes were launched immediately after the company came out of
administration plan in July 2021. Due to the legal regulation related to equity changes, the process was realized
in four steps and was completed in April 2022. As a result, the face value of one share was reduced from 1.40
euro to 0.10 euro. AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA’s controlling shareholder Duke I S.a.r.l. made additional
investments in the share capital by converting the 45.4 million euro loan granted to the company into shares.
In addition, minority shareholders also participated in the share capital increase, investing more than 0.6
million euro and thus demonstrating their confidence in the long-term future of the company.
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Changes in the share capital of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA

31.12.2020

18.02.2021

10.09.2021

22.11.2021

08.02.2022

11.04.2022

Share capital
(EUR)

33 464 487

33 464 487

2 390 320.50

48 346 129

48 345 224

2 417 261.20

Number
shares

23 903 205

23 903 205

23 903 205

483 461 290

24 172 612

24 172 612

1.40

1.40

0.10

0.10

2.00

0.10

of

Nominal
value
per
share (EUR)

After the previously described actions, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA is no longer classified as an undertaking
in difficulty according to the regulations of the European Union (EU), and is permitted to receive EU funding,
grants and subsidies, thereby improving its returns on investments, as well as obtaining better payment
conditions in relations with its suppliers and finding better financing options with credit institutions. This will
help the development, competitiveness, and long-term viability of the company.
In the result of the changes in capital of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA the proportion of shares held by
shareholders has also changed (%):
31.12.2020.

18.02.2021.

10.09.2021.

22.11.2021.

08.02.2022.

11.04.2022.

-

83.14

84.09

97.18

97.18

97.19

P-D
Management
Industries Technologies
GmbH

23.93

10.5

10.5

0.52

0.52

0.52

P-D Glasseiden GmbH
Oschatz

26.07

-

-

-

-

-

P-D Composites Handelsund Service GmbH

22.82

-

-

-

-

-

Beatrix Preiss-Daimler

17.47

-

-

-

-

-

9.71

6.36

5.41

2.3

2.3

2.29

Duke I S.a.r.l.

Others

EXIT FROM THE BALTIC SECONDARY LIST OF AS “NASDAQ RIGA”
Based on the decision of extraordinary shareholder meeting of March 29, 2021, AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
on June 7, 2021 submitted to the AS “Nasdaq Riga” an application for exclusion of bearer shares from the Baltic
Secondary List of AS “Nasdaq Riga”.
On June 8, 2021, AS “Nasdaq Riga” decided to approve the application of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA and
to delist its 23 903 205 bearer shares (ISIN LV0000100485, ticker VSS1R) from the Baltic Secondary List. The
last listing day of AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA was set June 18, 2021.

13

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
The management of the GROUP’s Parent Company is responsible for the preparation of the separate and
consolidated financial statements of the GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP (‘financial statements’).
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the source documents and present fairly the
financial position of the GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP as of 31 December 2021 and the results of
their operations and cash flows for the 12-month period ended on 31 December 2021. The management
confirms that appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements. The
management also confirms that the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the EU have been complied with and that the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.
The management of the GROUP is also responsible for maintaining proper accounting records, for taking
reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP and to prevent fraud
and fraudulent activities, and other irregularities.

On the Company’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP

Chairman of the Management Board
Stefan Jugel
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
Notes
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

4
5

2 207 233

1 528 614

3 899 088
6 106 321

3 644 227
5 172 841

Property, plant and equipment

6

54 041 586

48 239 586

Other non-current assets
Defined benefit plan asset
Total other non-current assets

14

741 433
741 433

-

Deferred tax asset, net

25

-

192 686

60 889 340

53 605 113

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Total intangible assets

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

7

19 536 053

20 190 794

Debtors
Current tax assets
Trade receivables
Amounts due from related parties
Other assets
Total debtors

9
8
28
9

175 115
7 299 021
2 185 879
9 660 015

389 278
5 512 208
1 018 501
1 507 203
8 427 190

Cash and cash equivalents

10

9 179 295

3 038 076

Total current assets

38 375 363

31 656 060

TOTAL ASSETS

99 264 703

85 261 173

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
Notes
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

48 346 129
708 876
(238 456)
(34 006 698)
14 809 851

33 464 487
(884 694)
(2 804 357)
(70 369 497)
(40 594 061)

12, 28
13, 28
14
15
25

62 476 822
4 307 945
1 281 754
631 711
68 698 232

871 640
2 057 426
2 974 848
1 556 794
7 460 708

12, 28

492 819
2 101 802
11 217 292
1 669 667
275 040
15 756 620

95 466 283
1 140 374
19 088 187
1 546 373
772 524
380 785
118 394 526

Total liabilities

84 454 852

125 855 234

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

99 264 703

85 261 173

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital
Foreign currency translation reserve
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Defined benefit obligation
Deferred income
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Contract liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accrued liabilities
Defined benefit obligation
Deferred income
Total current liabilities

11
11

13, 28
14
15

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE GROUP
FOR THE YEAR 2021
Notes
2021
EUR

2020*
EUR

104 578 490
2 041 822
(3 780 846)
(41 478 738)
(30 039 108)
(8 101 390)
(3 392)
(16 980 463)
6 236 375
4 029 342
(4 973 693)
5 292 024
(3 391)
5 288 633

95 839 730
901 515
(2 206 400)
(38 013 821)
(27 954 338)
(8 492 521)
(214)
(14 881 980)
5 191 971
257 555
(7 615 523)
(2 165 997)
(94 279)
(2 260 276)

-

9 160 154

5 288 633

6 899 878

5 288 633

47 847 225
(40 947 347)

26

0.0109

(1.7130)

14

3 491 964

485 557

(926 063)

(159 739)

1 593 570

2 972 167

4 159 471

3 297 985

-

1 026 946

4 159 471

4 324 931

9 448 104

11 224 809

9 448 104

48 874 171
(37 649 362)

Revenue
Other operating income
Change in inventories
Raw materials and consumables used
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables
Other operating expenses
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit/(loss) before tax
Corporate income tax
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

16
18

Discontinued operations

17

19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Parent Company
Earnings per share
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations
Deferred income tax relating to defined benefit
obligations
Exchange rate differences on translation of foreign
operations
Other comprehensive income for the year,
attributable to owners of the Parent Company
Items that will be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss
Exchange rate differences on translation of foreign
operations attributable to non-controlling interest
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Parent Company

25

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP’s PARENT COMPANY
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
Notes
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets

4

2 207 233

1 528 614

Property, plant and equipment

6

51 027 506

46 163 382

Non-current financial investments
Investments in subsidiaries

5

13 000 000

13 000 000

Total non-current financial investments

13 000 000

13 000 000

Total non-current assets

66 234 739

60 691 996

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

7

15 233 297

15 443 487

Debtors
Trade receivables
Receivables from subsidiaries
Amounts due from related parties
Other assets
Total debtors

8
28
28
9

5 030 376
923 862
2 122 433
8 076 671

3 810 235
1 133 451
1 018 501
1 377 008
7 339 195

Cash and cash equivalents

10

7 216 828

1 316 810

Total current assets

30 526 796

24 099 492

TOTAL ASSETS

96 761 535

84 791 488

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP’s PARENT COMPANY
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
Notes
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

48 346 129
546 709
(39 022 177)
9 870 661

33 464 487
546 709
(74 593 693)
(40 582 497)

12, 28
13, 28
15

62 306 706
4 307 945
1 281 754
67 896 405

3 323 839
2 057 426
1 556 794
6 938 059

12, 28

4 806 986
2 101 802
11 004 499
806 142
275 040
18 994 469

97 073 472
1 140 372
18 728 416
1 112 881
380 785
118 435 926

Total liabilities

86 890 874

125 373 985

Total equity and liabilities

96 761 535

84 791 488

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Contract liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accrued liabilities
Deferred income
Total current liabilities

11
11

13, 28
15

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE GROUP’S PARENT COMPANY
FOR YEAR 2021
Notes

Revenue
Other operating income
Change in inventories
Raw materials and consumables
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses on loans, trade and other receivables
and contract assets
Other operating expenses
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit / (loss) before tax
Corporate income tax
Profit / (loss) for the year

16
18

Profit / (loss) per share

26

19
20
21

22
23
24
25

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

90 525 686
2 454 897
(4 410 089)
(35 507 559)
(25 605 774)
(7 725 946)

83 206 544
1 127 275
(1 038 213)
(32 965 124)
(23 906 756)
(8 122 552)

(4 610)

(958 226)

(14 446 490)
5 280 115
3 630 644
(4 069 381)
4 841 378
(344 028)
4 497 350

(13 056 208)
4 286 740
11 785
(7 687 750)
(3 389 225)
(85 928)
(3 475 153)

0.0093

(0.1454)

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE GROUP
FOR THE YEAR 2021
GROUP
Note

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
EUR

Share capital
EUR

31.12.2019.
Profit/(loss) for the
year
Other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement of
defined benefit
obligation
Deferred income tax
relating to defined
benefit obligation
Exchange rate
differences on
translation of foreign
operations
Total comprehensive
income
31.12.2020.
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement of
defined benefit
obligation
Deferred income tax
relating to defined
benefit obligation
Exchange rate
differences on
translation of foreign
operations
Total comprehensive
income

Accumulated
losses

Total

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

33 464 487

(3 856 861)

(3 130 175)

(29 422 150)

(2 944 699)

(48 874 171)

(51 818 870)

-

-

-

(40 947 347)

(40 947 347)

47 847 225

6 899 878

-

-

485 557

-

485 557

-

485 557

-

-

(159 739)

-

(159 739)

-

(159 739)

-

2 972 167

-

-

2 972 167

1 026 946

3 999 113

-

2 972 167

327 818

(40 947 347)

(37 649 362)

48 874 171

11 224 809

33 464 487

(884 694)

(2 804 357)

(40 594 061)

-

(40 594 061)

-

-

-

5 288 633

5 288 633

-

5 288 633

-

-

3 491 964

-

3 491 964

-

3 491 964

-

-

(926 063)

-

(926 063)

-

(926 063)

-

1 593 570

-

-

1 593 570

-

1 593 570

1 593 570

2 565 901

5 288 633

4 159 471

-

4 159 471

-

-

31 074 166

-

-

-

-

-

-

45 955 808

-

45 955 808

708 876

(238 456)

(34 006 698)

14 809 851

-

14 809 851

Transactions with shareholders in their capacity as owners
Offset of
accumulated loss
(31 074 166)
against share capital
11
Increase in share
45 955 808
capital
11
31.12.2021.

Other reserves

48 346 129

(70 369 497)

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE GROUP’s PARENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR 2021
GROUP’s Parent Company
Note

31.12.2019.
Loss for the year

31.12.2020.

EUR

Other
reserves
EUR

Accumulated
losses
EUR

33 464 487

546 709

(71 118 540)

(37 107 344)

-

-

(3 475 153)

(3 475 153)

33 464 487

546 709

(74 593 693)

(40 582 497)

4 497 350

4 497 350

-

31 074 166

-

-

-

45 955 808

546 709

(39 022 177)

9 870 661

Share capital

Profit for the year
Transactions with shareholders in their capacity as owners
Offset of accumulated loss against share
11
(31 074 166)
capital
Increase in share capital
11
45 955 808
31.12.2021.

48 346 129

Total
EUR

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Member of the Board
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS OF THE GROUP AND
THE GROUP’s PARENT COMPANY FOR THE YEAR 2021
GROUP
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization
(Decrease)/Increase in impairment allowances
Loss/(profit) from disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net
(Change) in provisions and employee benefits
Cash paid to pension scheme not recognized in profit
or loss
Income on government grants
Interest expense
Interest income
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables
Interest paid
Income tax (paid) / received
Cash provided / (used in) by operating activities

21

15
24

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
Income from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

5 292 024

(2 165 997)

4 841 378

(3 389 225)

7 758 752
(612 224)

8 492 521
2 256 171

7 383 308
(616 585)

8 122 552
2 256 171

892 932
-

(7 306)
(553 632)

806 543
-

(553 632)

(1 274 142)
(380 785)
4 002 542
-

(438 350)
(380 785)
7 312 731
(133 752)

(380 785)
4 003 896
-

(380 785)
7 420 497
-

1 266 965
(1 232 825)
(4 503 755)
(2 808 446)
68 321

1 122 220
(1 530 459)
(4 882 463)
(4 238 936)
(26 658)

826 776
(737 476)
(6 047 938)
(2 930 814)
(137 669)

(183 885)
(857 260)
(5 438 276)
(4 220 007)
(25 178)

8 469 359

4 825 305

7 010 633

2 750 972

(14 969 450)
-

(2 339 971)
7 306

(13 732 594)
-

(2 162 552)
-

(14 969 450)

(2 332 665)

(13 732 594)

(2 162 552)

564 603
15 440 534
(2 937 465)
(546 886)

94 055
(490 509)
(588 859)

564 603
15 440 534
(2 930 814)
(452 344)

94 055
(461 840)

12 520 786

(985 313)

12 621 979

(367 785)

-

(1 108 174)

-

-

6 141 219

399 153

5 900 018

220 635

120 524

(35 617)

-

-

2 982 899

2 674 540

1 316 810

1 096 175

9 179 295

3 038 076

7 216 828

1 316 810

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Loans received
Loans repaid
Lease payments
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing
activities
Net cash flows from discontinued operations

12

17

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

10

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were signed on 28 June 2022 on the GROUP’s behalf by:

THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED WITH SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS TIMESTAMP
Stefan Jugel, Chairman of the Board
Ģirts Vēveris, Member of the Board
Mārtiņš Blaus, Finance Director
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AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

AS Valmieras stikla šķiedra is registered as a joint stock company in the Commercial Register of the Republic
of Latvia. The principal activity of the GROUP is production and trade of fibreglass and fibreglass products.
The GROUP consists of its parent company AS Valmieras stikla šķiedra (GROUP’s Parent Company) and a
subsidiary Valmiera Glass UK (previously – P-D Integrlas Technologies Ltd.). GROUP’s subsidiaries in the United
States of America Valmiera Glass USA Corporation and Valmiera Glass USA Trading Corporation were
liquidated in February 2021.
On 14 January 2020, the Supervisory Council of the GROUP’s Parent Company endorsed signing a letter of
intent on selling of all business assets of Valmiera Glass USA Corporation, as well as transferring all employees,
customer, supply, lease and other executory contracts of the company to Saint-Gobain Adfors America, Inc.
The letter of intent was signed on 21 January 2020, and the asset purchase agreement was signed on 2 March
2020. The United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Georgia approved the asset purchase
agreement on 2 June 2020, and the management of the GROUP commenced Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
liquidation process. The company’s liquidation plan was submitted for the Bankruptcy Court’s approval on 10
September 2020, and the court approved it on 4 December 2020. For the purposes of these financial
statements, Valmiera Glass USA Corporation is treated as discontinued operations in 2020 in accordance with
the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations.
The annual report of the Group and the Group’s Parent Company is subject to the approval at the annual
general meeting of shareholders.
The Group’s and the Group’s Parent Company’s financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board
on 28 June 2022. Shareholders have the power to reject the financial statements prepared and issued by the
management and the right to request that new financial statements are issued.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (the EU) and their interpretations. The standards are issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and their interpretations by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
I. Standards issued or amended that affected financial year
A number of new amendments are effective from 1 January 2021 but they do not have a material effect on
the GROUP’s and the GROUP Parent Company’s financial statements:
•

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 Leases
- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16),
effective as of 1 January 2021,and

•

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendments to IFRS 16 - COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions,
effective as of 1 June 2020.
II.

Standards and amendments to the existing standards issued by IASB and adopted by the EU but not
yet effective

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following new standards, amendments to the
existing standards and interpretation issued by IASB and adopted by the EU are not yet effective:
•
•

•

Amendments to IFRS 4 – deferral of IFRS 9 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023).
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the
IASB, not yet adopted by the EU).
IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, not yet
adopted by the EU).
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•

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – Amendments to IAS 1 (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, not yet adopted by the EU). These narrow scope amendments
clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at
the end of the reporting period.

•

Proceeds before intended use, Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework – narrow scope amendments to IAS 16, IAS 37 and IFRS 3, and Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 – amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS9, IFRS16 and IAS 41 (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company have elected not to adopt new standards, amendments to
existing standards and interpretation in advance of their effective dates. The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent
Company anticipate that the adoption of these standards and amendments to existing standards will have no
material impact on the financial statements of the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company in the period of
initial application.
3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Foreign currencies
The accompanying GROUP’s and the GROUP’s Parent Company’s financial statements are presented in the
currency of the European Union, the Euro (hereinafter – EUR), which is the GROUP’s Parent Company’s
functional and presentation currency. The functional currencies of subsidiaries are GBP and USD.
In preparing the financial statements of each individual GROUP entity, transactions in currencies other than
the company’s functional currency are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the GROUP's
foreign subsidiaries are translated into EUR using exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as Foreign currency
translation reserve, relevant part of which is allocated to non-controlling interest.
All transactions and balances in foreign currencies are converted into euro after the European Central Bank
exchange rate. Financial Reporting currency rates for 1 EUR:
GBP
RUB
SEK
CHF
USD

31.12.2021.
0.84028
85.3004
10.2503
1.0331
1.1326

31.12.2020.
0,89903
91,46710
10,0343
1,08020
1,2271

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the GROUP and entities
controlled by the GROUP and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the GROUP has power over the
investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the GROUP obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
GROUP loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the GROUP gains control until the date when the GROUP ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the GROUP
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the GROUP
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and any unrealised gains and cash flows relating
to transactions between members of the GROUP are eliminated in full on consolidation. Any unrralised losses
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are also eliminated. Where necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the GROUP’s accounting policies.
Changes in the GROUP’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the GROUP’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the GROUP losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the GROUP’s interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amounts by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the GROUP.
Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:
•
•

represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;
is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area
of operations; or
• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.
When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss and
OCI is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.
Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses, including acquisitions under common control in situations the common control
transaction has commercial substance, are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the GROUP, liabilities incurred by the GROUP to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the GROUP in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements that are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19
respectively.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the GROUP’s interest in
net fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed and the
net fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries in the GROUP’s Parent Company’s separate financial statements are recognized at
cost less impairment losses. If the recoverable amount of an investment is lower than its carrying amount, due
to circumstances not considered to be temporary, the investment value is written down to its recoverable
amount.
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Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of
the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the GROUP’s cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is recognized.
Other intangible assets
Software licences and patents are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation of the assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost
over their estimated useful lives. Generally, the software licences and patents are amortised over a period of
3 to 10 years.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition.
Precious metal plates, which are used in manufacturing, are classified as fixed assets and depreciated using
units of production method based on actual intensity of use. For other fixed assets depreciation is calculated
using the straight-line method applying the following annual depreciation rates:
Buildings
Equipment and machinery
Other fixed assets

4-6.7%
6.7-25%
10-40%

Land is not depreciated.
The estimated annual depreciation rates and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the GROUP and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
At each balance sheet date, the GROUP and the GROUP’s parent Company review the carrying amounts of its
PPE and intangible assets to determine whether there are any indications that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Comany estimate the value of cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs comprise direct materials and, where
applicable, direct labor costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realizable value
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represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling
and distribution.
If necessary, allowance is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock. See use of estimates section
below.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company
expect to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company recognize revenue at the point of time when it transfers control
of a product or service to a customer.
The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance
obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue
recognition policies.

Sale of goods

Performance of performance
obligations and payment terms

Revenue recognition

Goods (and all risks and benefits
associated with the ownership)
are transferred to the customers
in accordance with Incoterms
specified in the sales contract and
/ or invoice.

Revenue is recognised when the
goods are delivered in accordance
with the sales agreement
Incoterms.

30 to 60-day payment terms
apply, or prepayment is required
depending on the availability of
customer’s credit insurance and /
or credit risk assessment.
Under the GROUP’s standard
contract terms, customers have a
right of return within 6 months.
The customers have a right of
refund, early payment discounts
and volume bonuses. Please see
more details below.
The sales contracts do not contain
significant financing components.

The GROUP recognises revenue
when or as the performance
obligation is satisfied, net of the
amount of cash discount
expected to be taken.
The GROUP provides early
payment discounts to its clients.
The GROUP estimates the amount
of variable consideration to which
it will be entitled by using the
'most likely amount' method. The
GROUP recognises revenue when
or as the performance obligation
is satisfied, net of the amount of
cash discount expected to be
taken.
For contracts that permit the
customer to return an item,
revenue is recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.
Therefore, the amount of revenue
recognised is adjusted for
expected returns, which are
estimated. The GROUP estimates
the
amount
of
variable
consideration to which it will be
entitled by using the 'most likely
amount' method.
At the point of sale, a refund
liability and a corresponding
adjustment to revenue is
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recognised for those products
expected to be returned.
The GROUP uses its accumulated
historical experience to estimate
the number of returns on a
portfolio level using the expected
value method. It is considered
highly probable that a significant
reversal in the cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur
given the consistent insignificant
level of returns over previous
years.
Transport services

Transport services are deemed to
be provided when the transport
services have been completed
(transported goods have been
delivered to the customer).
30 to 60-day payment terms
apply.

Revenue from services is
recognised in the accounting
period
in
which
the
transportation
services
are
completed (goods delivered to
clients).

No discounts and bonuses apply.
The service contracts do not
contain significant financing
components.
Management and consulting
services

Services are deemed to be
provided when a customer has
confirmed complete or partial
service delivery. In the case of
long-term consulting contracts,
services are deemed to be
provided at a constant rate on
monthly basis in accordance with
the agreement.

Revenues are recognised in the
accounting period in which the
services are rendered, by
reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on
the basis of the actual service
provided as a proportion of the
total amount of services to be
provided.

30 to 60-day payment terms
apply.
No discounts and bonuses apply.
The service contracts do not
contain significant financing
components.
The contract assets primarily relate to the GROUP’s rights to consideration for services provided but not billed
at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional.
This usually occurs when the GROUP issues an invoice to the customer.
The contract liabilities relate to advance payments received from customers, which will be recognized as
revenue in the next reporting period, when the respective customer orders are fulfilled.
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Defined
benefit costs are categorised as follows:
• service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);
• net interest expense or income;
• remeasurement due to change in actuarial assumptions.
The GROUP presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss line items Personnel
Expenses, Finance costs and Finance income. Remeasurement comprises actuarial gains and losses, the effect
of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated within Other reserves in equity.
Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables and debt instruments issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the GROUP becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
i.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, GROUP’s and GROUP’s Parent Company’s financial assets are classified as measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
—
it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and
—
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. In assessing whether the
contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the GROUP and the GROUPš Parent
Company consider the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it
would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the GROUP considers:
—
contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
—
terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
—
prepayment and extension features; and
—
terms that limit the GROUP’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract.
Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount
plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation
for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is
insignificant at initial recognition.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the GROUP or the GROUP’s
Parent Company changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
The GROUP do not hold debt or equity investments measured at FVOCI or FVTPL.

30

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Derecognition
The GROUP derecognise a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the GROUP neither
transfer nor retain substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and they do not retain control of the
financial asset.
Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
i.
Financial liabilities
All GROUP’s and GROUP’s Parent Company’s financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost.
Other financial liabilities at amortized cost
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition
The GROUP derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or
expire. The GROUP also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms
is recognised at fair value.
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or
loss.
ii.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the GROUP currently have a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts
and tjey intend either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Impairment of non-derivative financial assets
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company recognise loss allowances for ECLs on:
- financial assets measured at amortised cost;
- contract assets.
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of
all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company expect to receive). ECLs are discounted
at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, simplified method.
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs,
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition; then lifetime ECLs is used
instead. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less
than 12 months). The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company are exposed to credit risk.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company consider reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the GROUP’s and the GROUP’s Parent
Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company assume that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company consider a financial asset to be in default when:
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—
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company
in full, without recourse by the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company to actions such as realising security
(if any is held); or
—
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company assess whether financial assets carried
at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
—
significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
—
a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
—
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company on terms that
the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company would not consider otherwise;
—
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
—
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount
of the assets.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company
have no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The GROUP
and the GROUP’s Parent Company individually make an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of
write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent
Company expect no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the GROUP’s and the
GROUP’s Parent Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
Deferred and current tax
Current tax assets and tax liabilities for current and previous periods are measured at the amount expected to
be obtained from or paid to tax authorities. Deferred taxes refer to tax on differences between the carrying
amount and the tax base, which in the future serves as the basis for current tax. Deferred tax liabilities are the
tax attributable to taxable temporary differences and are expected to be paid in the future. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised on all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets represent a reduction in the
future tax attributable to deductible temporary differences, tax loss carry-forwards or other future taxable
deductions. Deferred tax assets are tested on each closing period and recognised to the extent it is likely on
each closing day that they can be utilised. As a result, a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset is
recognised when it is considered likely that a sufficient surplus will be available in the future. Tax rates which
have been enacted or substantively enacted as of the reporting date are used in the calculations. The GROUP’s
deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are estimated at nominal value using country’s tax rate in effect in
subsequent years. Deferred tax assets are netted against deferred tax liabilities for GROUP entities that have
offsetting rights. All current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss as Tax, with the exception of
tax attributable to items that are recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity.
Based on the new Corporate Income tax law of the Republic of Latvia starting from 1 January 2018 corporate
income tax is applicable to distributed profits and several expenses that would be treated as profit distribution.
In case of reinvestment of profit corporate income tax shall not be applied. The applicable corporate income
tax rate is 20%. Corporate income tax will is recognized as tax payable at the period when shareholders decide
to distribute profit.
In accordance with International Accounting Standard No 12 “Income Taxes” requirements, in cases where
income tax is payable at a higher or lower rate, depending on whether the profit is distributed, the current and
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate applicable to undistributed profits. In Latvia the
applicable rate for undistributed profits is 0%. Therefore, no deferred tax assets and liabilities arise.
Leases
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company as lessee
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The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company assess whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of
the contract. The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company recognize a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which they are lessees, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (assets with fair value
below 1 000 EUR including items such as personal computers, printers, mobile phones, small items of office
furniture and similar) . For these leases, the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company recognize the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;
The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented in Loans and Borrowings line item in the statement of financial position. The
lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.
The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company remeasure the lease liability (and make a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
•

•

•

The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over period of a lease term.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank and demand deposits with credit institutions with initial term
which does not exceed 90 days.
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Government grants
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the GROUP will comply with
the conditions related to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants whose primary condition is that the GROUP should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred income in the statements of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
Other government grants are recognized as income over a period of time to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the GROUP with no future related costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company have a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company
will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Provisions for waste disposal
Provisions for waste disposal are recognised when the GROUP and GROUP’s Parent Company have generated
waste during its production process to be disposed to landfill. The amount recognized as a provision is
estimated considering the total amount of accumulated waste and planned waste disposal tariffs as at the
reporting date.
Use of estimates and critical accounting judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and off statements of financial
position items, as well as reported revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The following are the critical judgments and key estimates concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty, which exist at the reporting date of the financial statements that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities during the next reporting
period.
Core estimates and judgements:
Recoverable amount of goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires the management to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount of goodwill are disclosed in Note 5.
Net realizable value of inventories
The GROUP’s management evaluates the net realizable value of inventories based upon the expected sales
prices and selling costs and assesses the physical condition of inventories during the annual stock count. If the
net realizable value of inventories is lower than the cost of inventories, allowance is recorded.
The GROUP recognizes write down to net realizable value for all inventory items with no movement for more
than 1 year.
Other estimates and judgements:
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
The GROUP’s management reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and assesses
whenever indications exist that the assets’ recoverable amounts might be lower than their carrying amounts.
In case such indication of impairment is established, the GROUP measures the amount of impairment based
on the estimates related to the expected future use, planned liquidation or sale of the assets. Main
assumptions used to estimate the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note
6.

34

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Defined benefit pension plans
The GROUP’s management determines net surplus in defined benefit pension plan based on an assessment
carried out by independent actuary. The most significant assumptions used in this assessment are the expected
return on pension plan assets, pension growth rate, discount rate and availability of refund of potential future
surplus of the plan. Please see Note 14 for more detailed information.
Judgement regarding entitlement to government grants received – please refer to Note 15.
Judgement regarding subsidiary Valmiera Glass USA Corporation classification as Discontinued operations in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations –
please refer to Note 1.
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4.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP

Software licenses,
patents, trademarks and
other rights
EUR

Software in
acquisition
process
EUR

TOTAL
EUR

COST
31.12.2019.
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2021.

1 820 275
582 839
(123 280)
2 279 834
1 084 713
(226)
3 364 320

84 888
48 700
133 588
(47 950)
85 638

1 905 163
631 539
(123 280)
2 413 422
1 084 713
(48 176)
3 449 958

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
31.12.2019.
Charged
Amortization of disposals (-)
31.12.2020.
Charged
Amortization of disposals (-)
31.12.2021.

817 551
190 537
(123 280)
884 808
358 144
(226)
1 242 725

-

817 551
190 537
(123 280)
884 808
358 144
(226)
1 242 725

Carrying value
31.12.2020.
31.12.2021.

1 395 026
2 121 595

133 588
85 638

1 528 614
2 207 233

Software in
acquisition
process
EUR

TOTAL
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
Software licenses, patents,
trademarks and other rights
EUR
COST
31.12.2019.
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2021.

1 715 807
582 839
(18 813)
2 279 833
1 084 713
(226)
3 364 320

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
31.12.2019.
Charged
Amortization of disposals (-)
31.12.2020.
Charged
Amortization of disposals (-)
31.12.2021.

713 083
190 537
(18 813)
884 807
358 144
(226)
1 242 725

-

713 083
190 537
(18 813)
884 807
358 144
(226)
1 242 725

Carrying value
31.12.2020.
31.12.2021.

1 395 026
2 121 595

133 588
85 638

1 528 614
2 207 233

84 888
48 700
133 588
(47 950)
85 638

1 800 695
631 539
(18 813)
2 413 421
1 084 713
(48 176)
3 449 958
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5.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND GOODWILL

The GROUP’s Parent Company is a shareholder in the following
companies:

Valmiera Glass UK Limited (100%)
P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation (2019: 52.21%, 2018: 52.21%)
Valmiera Glass Trading USA Corporation (100%)
Impairment allowances
Total

31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

13 000 000
13 000 000

13 000 000
14 680 994
15 895
(14 696 889)
13 000 000

Core business of the subsidiaries is trade and production of fiberglass products.
Valmiera Glass UK Limited
The GROUP’s Parent Company acquired 100% of shares of subsidiary Valmiera Glass UK Limited (formerly
named P-D Interglas Technologies Limited) from a related party on 4 October 2013. Cost of acquisition
amounted to EUR 13 000 000.
Valmiera Glass UK Ltd acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill of EUR 3 899 088 (2020: EUR
3 644 348, 2019: EUR 3 850 810) as acquisition costs essentially include the anticipated benefits of the business
combination, revenue growth and future market growth. These and other benefits arising from the acquisition
were not recognized as separate assets because they did not meet identifiable intangible assets recognition
criteria. Changes in the carrying amount of the goodwill in 2020 and in the preceding reporting periods are
related to effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
The management has made an assessment of the recoverable amount of the investment in Valmiera Glass UK
Limited and goodwill based on value-in-use – discounted cash flow projections of the subsidiary. The financial
model is based on discounted net expected cash flows, which are forecasted in accordance with detailed 5year financial forecasts (the cash generating unit is on the level of Valmiera Glass UK Limited). Planned net
sales 5-year compound annual growth rate (CAGR) is 34.4% (2020: 29.1%), while the estimated annual longterm growth rate, which is applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year, is 2% p.a. (2020: 2%). The
management of Valmiera Glass UK Limited anticipates that price increases of energy and direct materials will
be transferred to customers more gradually and financial results of the subsidiary in 2022 will be negatively
affected and the high CAGR indicator is mainly related to the expected price increases during 2022 and 2023.
EBITDA margin forecast for 2022 approximates only 4.4%. Overall, in the 5-year period from 2022 through
2026, weighted average EBITDA margin forecast is 11.14% (2020: 12.2%). If compared to estimates of previous
year, EBITDA levels are planned to be lower in 2026 by 2.6% reflective of year 2022 energy and raw material
cost increases, which are transferred to customers through prices more gradually. The estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate of 8.3% (2020: 8.3%), which reflects
assessments of the time value of money of third-party investor and the risks specific to Valmiera Glass UK
Limited as at the date of these financial statements. Based on the above assumptions, the present value of
estimated future cash flows of Valmiera Glass UK Limited exceeds the carrying amount of the investment as
at 31 December 2021, and no impairment is recognized. The calculation of value-in-use is most sensitive to the
assumptions of net sales growth rate, EBITDA margin, and discount rate. No reasonably expected change in
these key assumptions would result in goodwill impairment; hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented.
The main financial indicators of the UK Subsidiary can be disclosed as follows:

Total assets as at 31 December
Net assets (equity) as at 31 December
Net profit for the year

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

17 336 162
14 319 736
840 116

16 024 672
10 198 148
490 586
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Valmiera Glass Trading USA Corporation
The GROUP’s Parent Company established subsidiary Valmiera Glass Trading USA Corporation on 9 April 2014.
The purpose of this US Subsidiary was to act as a sales representative of Valmiera Glass GROUP and P-D
Valmiera Glass USA Corporation in the US market.
As the result of the negative business development of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation, Valmiera Glass
Trading USA Corporation became a dormant company.
As per decision of the management of the GROUP’s parent Company Valmiera Glass Trading USA Corporation
was dissolved on 11 February 2021.
P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
In April 2018, the P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation started fibreglass production in newly constructed
factory (including Phase 1 (needle mat production) and Phase 2 (melting operations) plants).
While Phase 1 was fully operational both during 2018 and 2019, investments totalling EUR 99 million had been
made into the US Phase 2 facility by the end of 2018 (with a total of USD 110m planned in the period from
2014 through 2022). Unfortunately, Phase 2 facility production line was unable to reach the required
production capacity and remained operationally loss-making both in 2018 and 2019, effectively consuming
operational cash from other parts of the GROUP, as evidenced by substantial loans issued to the P-D Valmiera
Glass USA Corporation in 2018 and the first half of 2019 (please refer to Note 28 Transactions and balances
with related parties).
In May 2019, the GROUP’s Parent Company and Valmiera Glass UK Limited discontinued their financial support
to P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation.
In 2018 P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation entered into a short-term USD 3 000 000 (31.12.2019.: EUR 2 670
465) uncommitted revolving credit line agreement with Landesbank Baden-Württemberg New York (“LBBW
Bank”) guaranteed by the Parent company. On 10 June 2019 LBBW Bank demanded the Parent company to
repay the principal amount and accrued interest of the loan in the total amount of USD 3 013 148 (31.12.2019:
EUR 2 682 168). This event forced the GROUP’s Parent Company to commence the Legal Protection
Proceedings (LPP).
On 17 June 2019, P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation had to stop its Phase 2 Fiberglass furnace operation,
and dismiss more than 350 employees. P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation continued to run Phase 1
manufacturing operations. Since discontinuation of Phase 2 operations, the management team of the
subsidiary was replaced, and the operating and financial results of the subsidiary have significantly improved.
On 17 June 2019, the US Subsidiary also filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 in the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Georgia. Chapter 11 is a procedure under the US
bankruptcy code to reorganise a distressed company, and permits continued operation of parts or the whole
organisation in a controlled way.
As of 17 June 2019, P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was operating as a debtor-in-possession under a Final
Cash Collateral Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court, according to which all payments from the bank
accounts of the Subsidiary were subject to the Court’s approval in order to protect the interests of the secured
creditors. In addition, the Court appointed a Committee of Unsecured Creditors, which represented and
protected the interests of unsecured creditors.
The Subsidiary remained under control and direction of the Management Board and Supervisory Council
elected by the shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent Company. In accordance with IFRS 10, the GROUP’s Parent
Company remained the controlling shareholder of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation.
Considering the uncertainty associated with the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of the reorganization plan of PD Valmiera Glass USA Corporation, as well as the general future course of the subsidiary’s operations, the
GROUP’s Parent Company recognized impairment allowance in full amount of the carrying amount of its
investment in the US Subsidiary as at 31 December 2018 (EUR 14 680 994) in its separate financial statements.
On 10 September 2020, P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation filed its Plan of Liquidation for approval of the
Unites States Bankruptcy Court, which confirmed the plan on 4 December 2020. Taking into account the
intention to liquidate the US subsidiary, the GROUP’s Parent Company’s management assessment of the
recoverability of the investment in US Subsidiary had not changed in 2020.
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P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was dissolved on 15 February 2021.
The main unaudited financial indicators of the US Subsidiary can be disclosed as follows:
2021
EUR
Total assets as at 31 December
Equity as at 31 December
Net profit / (loss) for the year
Net profit attributable to the Owners of the Parent
Net profit attributable to non-controlling interest

2020
EUR
-

2021
EUR

997 663
0
100 109 730
52 262 505
47 847 225
2020
EUR

NCI percentage
Current assets

-

47.79%
997 663

Current liabilities
Net assets
Net assets attributable to NCI
Revenue
Profit
Total comprehensive income
Profit allocated to NCI
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Foreign exchange differences
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

-

(997 663)
3 644 435
100 109 730
100 109 730
47 847 225
982 243
15 321 310
(17 388 477)
(23 249)
(1 108 173)

In 2020, according to the approved Plan of Liquidation, mutual claims and liabilities of the Subsidiary, its
shareholders and other related parties were released, and the Subsidiary recognized debt forgiveness income
in the amount of USD 142 142 646 (EUR 124 446 372). Excluding the effect of the adjustment, the adjusted
net result of the Subsidiary would be loss of USD 26 378 093 (EUR 23 094 110). Given previous accumulated
liabilities of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation to other components of the Group, including the Parent
Company, the profit of the year driven largely by derecognition of liabilities did not result in positive profit or
loss impact on the Group result attributable to Parent Company shareholders.
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP

HISTORICAL COST
31.12.2019.
Exchange rate differences
Reclassifications
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Exchange rate differences
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
31.12.2021.

Equipment and
machinery
EUR

Land
EUR

Buildings
EUR

376 885
376 885
-

92 378 818
(1 125 768)
198 957
(58 878 866)
32 573 141
230 601
712 214
(25 934)
33 490 022

Other fixed
assets
EUR

Construction in
progress
EUR

Advance
payments for
fixed assets
EUR

Total
EUR

181 992 618
(1 513 922)
4 729 870
1 150 554
(51 120 066)
135 239 054
866 258
841 001
(11 994 171)
10 450 026
135 402 168

11 287 226
(83 619)
(4 729 870)
389 310
(1 253 350)
5 609 697
85 845
705 741
(434 293)
5 966 990

856 282
(167)
462 453
(9 938)
1 308 630
17 586
9 584 202
(9 243 026)
1 667 392

472 940
179 770
652 710
2 041 579
(1 207 000)
1 487 289

287 364 769
(2 723 476)
2 381 044
(111 262 220)
175 760 117
1 200 290
13 884 737
(12 454 398)
(11 502)
178 390 746

136 947 974
(1 329 832)
(68 588)
6 727 071
(44 190 779)
98 085 846
769 668
5 904 570
(11 218 787)
93 541 297

5 765 084
(76 671)
68 588
304 415
(1 180 328)
4 881 088
77 120
354 667
(368 345)
4 944 530

-

440 920
440 920
440 920

217 061 311
(2 352 099)
8 301 985
(95 490 666)
127 520 531
1 037 437
7 400 608
(11 609 416)
124 349 160

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
31.12.2019.
Exchange rate differences
Reclassifications
Charge for the year
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Exchange rate differences
Charge for the year
Disposals
31.12.2021.
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
31.12.2020.

-

73 907 333
(945 596)
1 270 499
(50 119 559)
24 112 677
190 649
1 141 371
(22 284)
25 422 413

376 885

8 460 464

37 153 208

728 609

1 308 630

211 790

48 239 586

31.12.2021.

376 885

8 067 609

41 860 871

1 022 460

1 667 392

1 046 369

54 041 586

-

The GROUP has pledged all its property as a security for borrowings, see Note 12 (a)
A number of fixed assets that have been fully depreciated are still used in operations. The total acquisition cost
of these assets as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 25 743 062 (2020: EUR 28 611 725).
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during the
period:

GROUP
31.12.2020
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge
31.12.2021.

Land and
buildings
EUR
196 620
(52 366)

Equipment and
machinery
EUR
813 675
34 637
(304 284)

Motor vehicles
EUR
158 961
118 987
(34 787)
(95 939)

Total
EUR
1 169 256
153 624
(34 787)
(452 589)

144 254

544 028

147 222

835 504

GROUP’s Parent Company

Land

Buildings

Equipment and
machinery

Other fixed
assets

Construction in
progress

Advance
payments for
fixed assets

TOTAL
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HISTORICAL COST
31.12.2019.
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Transfers
Additions
Disposals
31.12.2021.

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

376 885
376 885
376 885

29 166 241
198 957
(69 606)
29 295 592
638 407
(12 890)
29 921 109

123 514 155
764 383
(1 338 009)
122 940 529
10 450 025
570 908
(11 994 168)
121 967 294

4 420 228
346 038
(353 140)
4 413 126
584 990
(408 461)
4 589 655

846 179
462 452

472 940
179 770

1 308 631
(9 243 025)
8 811 997
877 603

652 710
(1 207 000)
2 041 579
1 487 289

158 796 628
1 951 600
(1 760 755)
158 987 473
12 647 881
(12 415 519)
159 219 835

-

20 233 853
1 230 498
(68 793)
21 395 558
1 100 846
(9 241)
22 487 163

81 660 902
6 424 380
(899 285)
87 185 997
5 604 558
(11 242 832)
81 547 723

3 866 913
277 137
(342 434)
3 801 616
319 760
(404 853)
3 716 523

-

440 920

376 885
376 885

7 900 034
7 433 946

35 754 532
40 419 571

611 510
873 132

1 308 631
877 603

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
31.12.2019.
Charge for the year
Disposals
31.12.2020.
Charge for the year
Disposals
31.12.2021.
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
31.12.2020.
31.12.2021.

106 202 588
7 932 015
(1 310 512)
112 824 091
7 025 164
(11 656 926)
108 192 329

440 920
440 920

211 790

46 163 382
51 027 506

1 046 369

The GROUP’s Parent Company has pledged all its property as a security for borrowings, see Note 12(a).
A number of fixed assets that have been fully depreciated are still used in operations. The total acquisition cost
of these assets as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 12 107 251 (2020: EUR 15 767 909).
During 2021, the GROUP’s Parent Company recognized precious metal plate disposals with the carrying
amount of EUR 385 452 as at the disposal date. The disposals are result of technical depletion of precious
metals during production process.
Equipment and machinery contain precious metal plates that are used in production, with the net carrying
amount of EUR 11 666 782 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: EUR 12 181 083). According to the metal prices
quoted in London Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2021, the market price of the precious metal stock of the
GROUP’s Parent Company was EUR 30 566 830 (2020: EUR 32 374 285). In 2021, the average annual technical
depletion rate of the plates was 5.1% (2020: 3.0%)
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized as property, plant and equipment,
and the movements during the period:

Group’s Parent Company
31.12.2020.
Additions
Depreciation charge
31.12.2021.

7.

Land and
buildings
EUR
196 620
(52 366)

Equipment and
machinery
EUR
569 442
12 444
(236 102)

Motor vehicles
EUR
82 404
118 987
(54 169)

Total
EUR
848 466
131 431
(342 637)

144 254

345 784

147 222

637 260

INVENTORIES
GROUP
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
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Raw materials
Write downs to net realizable value
(raw materials)
Work in progress
Finished goods
Write downs to net realizable value
(finished goods)
Advance payments for inventories
Write downs to net realizable value
(advance payments for inventories)
Total

9 020 828

7 945 909

7 170 037

6 164 791

(1 580 315)

(2 540 642)

(1 328 640)

(1 910 024)

3 850 504
10 653 467

3 876 007
13 593 916

3 157 620
6 412 839

3 230 366
8 767 614

(4 017 803)

(3 669 700)

(1 628 687)

(1 663 889)

1 640 042

1 015 974

1 480 798

885 299

(30 670)

(30 670)

(30 670)

(30 670)

19 536 053

20 190 794

15 233 297

15 443 487

During 2021, the GROUP’s parent Company recognized reversal in amount of EUR 551 948 allowances for
obsolete and slow-moving inventory. Valmiera Glass UK Ltd recognized additional allowances for slow moving
inventory in amount of EUR 4 361. Changes in the write downs are included in profit and loss statement line
item Other operating expenses (please see Note 22).
Change in allowances for inventory:

Allowance as of 31 December 2019
Additional allowances recognized
Release of allowance previously recognized
Disposal of obsolete inventory
Allowance as of 31 December 2020

GROUP
EUR
5 782 219
1 113 036
(382 621)
(302 292)
6 210 342

Additional allowances recognized
Release of allowance previously recognized
Disposal of obsolete inventory
Allowance as of 31 December 2021

4 361
(551 947)
(64 638)
5 598 118

GROUP’s Parent
Company

EUR
2 763 168
1 113 036
(302 292)
3 573 912
(551 947)
(64 638)
2 957 327

The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company recognize general 100% write down for inventory items with
no use in the period longer than 1 year. The GROUP estimates the to net realizable value of goods for sale and
unfinished production – if the carrying amount exceeds the net realizable value, the GROUP recognizes
additional specific allowances to reduce the carrying amount of such inventory items to their net realizable
value. In addition, the GROUP’s Parent company recognizes specific allowances to write down the waste fibre
stock to the net realizable value of 0.01 EUR/kg.

8.

TRADE RECEIVABLES
GROUP

31.12.2021.

GROUP’s Parent Company

31.12.2020.

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.
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Trade receivables
Allowances for doubtful
receivables
Total
Age of receivables overview:
Days past due
0-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days
Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

7 329 083

5 838 333

5 060 438

4 136 360

(30 062)

(326 125)

(30 062)

(326 125)

7 299 021

5 512 208

5 030 376

3 810 235

4 799 289
72 420
158 667
5 030 376

3 608 298
54 152
147 785
3 810 235

6 895 432
72 420
331 169
7 299 021

5 263 554
61 307
147 134
5 471 995

Change in allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables:
GROUP’s Parent

GROUP
Company
EUR
EUR
Allowance as of 31 December 2019
1 198 990
330 179
Charge for the year
(4 054)
(4 054)
Amounts written off
(868 811)
Allowance as of 31 December 2020
326 125
326 125
Charge for the year
69
69
Amounts written off
(296 132)
(296 132)
Allowance as of 31 December 2021
30 062
30 062
In addition to the evaluation of expected credit losses according to IFRS 9 on collective basis, the GROUP and
the GROUP’s Parent Company assess trade receivables outstanding balances individually and without the use
of modelled inputs. If any significant differences in assessment identified, the management decides on the
revision of the amount of allowance for receivables with impairment indicators. For detailed information on
the expected credit loss matrix refer to Note 29.
During 2020, the US subsidiary wrote off its trade receivables and also reversed allowances in the amount of
EUR 868 811.

9.

OTHER ASSETS
GROUP

GROUP’s Parent Company
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Current financial assets
VAT overpayment
CIT overpayment
Funds in escrow account
Current non-financial assets
Accrued
mandatory
procurement
component discount
Prepaid CO2 quota expense
Prepaid insurance expense
Other prepaid expense
Legal protection process costs
Other receivables
Total current

10.

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

997 571
175 115
1 172 686

838 964
389 278
74 248
1 302 490

934 125
934 125

805 240
805 240

543 112

-

543 112

-

242 919
197 486
183 621
21 170
1 188 308

209 713
163 231
193 155
27 892
593 991

242 919
197 486
183 621
21 170
1 188 308

209 713
150 711
193 155
18 189
571 768

2 360 994

1 896 481

2 122 433

1 377 008

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP

Cash at bank
Cash in transit
Total
11.

31.12.2021.
EUR
9 179 295
9 179 295

GROUP’s Parent Company

31.12.2020.
EUR
3 036 199
1 877
3 038 076

31.12.2021.
EUR
7 216 828
7 216 828

31.12.2020.
EUR
1 314 933
1 877
1 316 810

EQUITY

Share Capital
The GROUP’s Parent Company's paid-up share capital on 31 December 2021 consists of 483 461 290 (2020: 23
903 205) shares, all with equal rights. The share capital is EUR 48 346 129 (2020: EUR 33 464 487).
In 2014 the share capital was denominated from Latvian lats to euro. Nominal value per share was determined
EUR 1.40 and total value of share capital was determined EUR 33 464 487. Positive difference arising from the
denomination in amount of EUR 546 709 was transferred to Other reserves of the GROUP’s Parent Company.
In order to improve the GROUP’s Parent Company’s capital structure, during 2021 shareholders of the
GROUP’s Parent Company decided on several share capital adjustments. To cover accumulated loss of the
previous years, par value of the GROUP’s Parent Company’s shares was reduced from EUR 1.40 to EUR 0.10
leading to a reduction of both share capital and accumulated loss by EUR 31 074 166. Subsequently, the
Company’s controlling shareholder Duke I S.à r.l converted into equity its loan to the GROUP’s Parent Company
in the amount of EUR 45 391 205. A number of minority shareholders of the GROUP’s parent Company
participated in the share capital increase with cash contribution in the amount of EUR 564 603. After the share
capital increase with the total amount of EUR 45 955 808, the total nominal value of the GROUP Parent
Company’s share capital amounted to EUR 48 346 129.

As of 31 December 2021, and 2020 the shareholders of the the GROUP’s Parent Company, in accordance with
the records maintained by the Latvian Central Depository, are as follows:
31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.
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Duke I S.a.r.l.
P-D Management-Industries-Technologies GmbH
Preiss – Daimler Beatrix
P-D Composites Handels-und Service GmbH
Other

84.07%
10.50%
5.43%
100.00%

26.07%
23.93%
17.47%
22.82%
9.71%
100.00%

As at 31 December 2021, the GROUP was ultimately controlled by Duke I S.a.r.l..
Other reserves
GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
Accumulated actuarial
differences (Note 14)
Other reserves
Total

12.

GROUP’s Parent Company

EUR

(785 165)
546 709
(238 456)

(3 351 066)
546 709
(2 804 357)

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.

EUR

EUR

546 709
546 709

546 709
546 709

LOANS AND BORROWINGS
GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR

Non-current:
Borrowings from credit institutions
Borrowings from subsidiaries (Note 28)
Borrowings from other related parties
(Note 28(b))
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities from related parties
(Note 12(b), 28(c))
Other borrowings
Total non-current

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.

EUR

EUR

EUR

45 346 495

-

45 346 495

-

-

-

-

2 672 589

16 627 450

100 000

16 627 450

100 000

483 137

716 229

313 021

495 839

19 740

55 411

19 740

55 411

-

-

-

-

62 476 822

871 640

62 306 706

3 323 839

25 997

83 660 780

25 997

83 660 780

-

-

4 406 560

1 700 000

Current:
Borrowings from credit institutions
Borrowings from subsidiaries (Note 28)
Borrowings from other related parties
(Note 28(b))
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities from related parties
(Note 12(b), 28(c))
Other borrowings

-

11 306 416

-

11 306 416

466 822

430 533

374 429

337 722

-

68 554

-

68 554

-

-

-

-

Total current

492 819

95 466 283

4 806 986

97 073 472

62 969 641

96 337 923

67 113 692

100 397 311

Total
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Movement of loans and borrowings:
2021
GROUP

31.12.2020.

Cash flows

Non-cash

31.12.2021.

EUR

EUR

Received

Borrowings from credit
institutions

83 660 780

Borrowings from other
related parties until
18.02

11 406 416

Borrowings from other
related parties after
18.02

Assigned to
Duke

Paid

5 362 920

(1 555 832)***

-

-

-

10 077 614

(1 273 789)

1 270 727

-

(546 886)

New
operating
lease
contracts

Converted to
equity

(40 489 306)

-

-

(1 606 070)*

45 372 492

-

-

(559 537)**

-

(45 391 205)

-

1 878 645

16 627 450

-

214 070

31 788

969 699

214 070

(255 174)

62 969 641

(10 846 879)

51 336 185

Accrued
interest

Lease liabilities

Total

GROUP’s
Company

96 337 923

Parent

15 440 534

31.12.2020.

Borrowings from
subsidiaries

(45 391 205)

Cash flows

Non-cash

EUR
Received

Borrowings from credit
institutions

(3 376 507)

-

Assigned to
Duke

Paid

Converted to
equity

31.12.2021.
EUR

New
operating
lease
contracts

Accrued
interest

(1 606 070)*
83 660 780

5 362 920***

4 372 589

-

(101 193)

-

-

Borrowings from other
related parties until
18.02

11 406 416

Borrowings from other
related parties after
18.02

-

10 077 614

(1 555 832)

(40 489 306)

(1 273 789)

-

(10 846 879)

51 336 185

-

-

45 372 492

-

-

135 164

4 406 560

-

-

(559 537)**

-

(45 391 205)

-

1 878 645

16 627 450

180 226

21 782

707 190

180 226

(130 016)

67 113 692

Lease liabilities

957 526

Total

100 397 311

(452 344)

15 440 534

(3 383 158)

-

(45 391 205)

* On 16 September 2019, the GROUP’s Parent Company and SEB and Danske (hereinafter - the Lenders)
concluded a Forbearance and Settlement agreement. According to the agreement, the GROUP’s Parent
Company was obliged to pay to the Lenders Forbearance and Restructuring fees. After the completion of the
share purchase agreement between DUKE I and the majority shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent Company the
GROUP’s Parent Company’s obligation to pay EUR 4 800 000 Restructuring fee to SEB and Danske were waived.
Total accrued and reversed amount of the restructuring fee on 18 February 2022 amounted to EUR 3 297 810.
During 2022, the GROUP’s Parent Company accrued loan interest in the amount of EUR 1 691 740.
** Accrued interest expenses for related parties Beatrix Preiss-Daimler and P-D Management IndustriesTechnologies GmbH were waived and accrued interest in amount of EUR 559 537 was reversed.
*** According to the liquidation plan of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation approved by the US Bankruptcy
Court on 4 December 2020, funds of the dissolved company were distributed among its third-party creditors,
including AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank. The disbursements reduced the principal amount of the Group’s
Parent Company’s indebtedness towards these creditors. According to the agreement with banks, the banks used
these bankruptcy proceeds to granted additional loan facilities to the GROUP’s Parent Company.
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2020
GROUP

31.12.2019.

Cash flows

Non-cash

31.12.2020.

EUR

EUR

Received
Borrowings from
credit institutions

92 193 096

94 057

Borrowings from
other related
parties

12 627 244

-

Lease liabilities

1 534 527

Other borrowings

Total

GROUP’s
Company

Parent

New
operating
lease
contracts

Debt
forgiveness
USA

Paid

(71 300)

-

6 835 475***

83 660 780

-

(1 661 004)

-

440 176

11 406 416

-

(631 850)

-

330 970

37 080

1 270 727

6 480 963

-

-

(6 480 963)*
*

-

-

-

112 835 830

94 057

330 970

7 312 731

96 337 923

31.12.2019.

(15 390 548)*

Accrued
interest

(16 022 398) (8 213 267)

Cash flows

Non-cash

EUR
Received

Debt forgiveness
SEB and Danske

Paid

31.12.2020.
EUR

New
operating
lease
contracts

Accrued
interest

Borrowings from
credit institutions

91 608 860

94 056

(4 234 934)

(10 623 852)*

-

6 816 650***

83 660 780

Borrowings from
subsidiaries

4 372 589

-

(135 164)

-

-

135 164

4 372 589

Borrowings from
other related
parties

10 966 240

-

-

-

-

440 176

11 406 416

1 334 291

-

(461 840)

-

56 569

28 506

957 526

108 281 980

94 056

(4 831 938)

(10 623 852)

56 569

7 420 496

100 397 311

Lease liabilities
Total

* The indebtedness of the GROUP’s Parent Company to its lenders SEB Banka (hereinafter – SEB) and Danske
Bank (hereinafter – Danske) (hereinafter both called together – the Lenders) was partially secured by the
commercial pledge of the assets of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation. Thus, the Lenders – among other
creditors - received disbursements based on the liquidation plan of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Georgia on 4 December 2020. The
indebtedness of the GROUP’s Parent Company to the Lenders was reduced accordingly (please see Note 17). In
the separate financial statements of the Company, the expected amount of such disbursements is disclosed as
the recoverable amount of the Company’s receivables from P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation (please see Note
28(d)).
** According to the approved liquidation plan of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation, P-D Valmiera Glass USA
Corporation was released from its liability to repay USD 6 000 000 (EUR 5 340 928) loan of a minority shareholder
John Post. In addition, on 5 June 2020 all agreements on loans and borrowings, government grants and the
respective securities between P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation and the United States City of Dublin and
County of Lawrence Development Authority were cancelled. The total amount of loans of the United States City
of Dublin and County of Lawrence Development Authority as at 5 June 2020 amounted to USD 1 280 714 (EUR 1
140 035).
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12(a) Borrowings from credit institutions

31.12.2021.
EUR
Non-current part:
Loan due within 2 to 5 years
Total non-current part

GROUP
31.12.2020.
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

45 346 495
45 346 495

-

45 346 495

-

45 346 495

-

25 997
25 997

83 660 780
83 660 780

25 997
25 997

83 660 780
83 660 780

45 372 492

83 660 780

45 372 492

83 660 780

Current part:
Credit line
Loan
Total current part
Total

The GROUP’s Parent Company
On 16 September 2019, the GROUP’s Parent Company and SEB and Danske (hereinafter - the Lenders)
concluded a Forbearance and Settlement agreement. According to the agreement, the GROUP’s Parent
Company’s USD denominated indebtedness to the Lenders was converted into a EUR denominated obligation
repayable in two phases – EUR 35 000 000 until 31 March 2020 and the remaining principal on the date, which
is 30 days after the LPP completion date (30 September 2021 according to the approved LPP plan). According
to the agreement, the GROUP’s Parent Company is was obliged to pay to the Lenders Forbearance and
Restructuring fees.
The Forbearance fee is was payable monthly and calculated as the outstanding principal indebtedness on the
relevant day times 4.5% divided by 360 plus EUR 10,000 per month.
The Restructuring fee amounting to EUR 4 800 000 is was payable within 30 days after the date on which the
GROUP Parent Company’s LPP Plan has been completed and the competent court has passed the decision to
terminate the LPP due to such completion. The Restructuring fee is reduced by EUR 1 000 000, if the Lenders
have received the principal indebtedness repayment in the amount of EUR 35 000 000 by 31 March 2020, and
by additional EUR 800 000, if the gross leverage on 30 June 2021 and thereafter is below 3.5.
According to the agreement, starting from January 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company had to repay its
principal indebtedness in the amount of EUR 500 000 monthly. The Forbearance and Settlement agreement
provided that the Company had to attract equity and/ or loan financing in the amount exceeding EUR
40 000 000 in order to settle its liabilities to the secured creditors in the amount of EUR 35 000 000 and secure
EUR 5 000 000 working capital and planned capital expenditure financing until 31 March 2020.
The GROUP’s Parent Company was unable to repay the principal indebtedness and attract EUR 40 000 000
financing according to the agreement, and amendments to the Forbearance and Settlement agreement were
signed to release the GROUP’s Parent Company from these obligations on 24 April 2020. The final repayment
date was not amended and remained 30 days after the LPP completion date (30 September 2021 according to
the approved LPP plan). In consideration, the Restructuring fee was set in the amount of EUR 4 800 000 with
option to be reduced by EUR 800 000, if the company’s gross leverage on 30 June 2021 and thereafter was
below 3.5. However, considering the effective shareholder structure, financing agreements and financial
forecasts as at 31 December 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company would not be able to achieve the gross
leverage ratio below 3.5 until 30 June 2021 and achieve reduction of the Restructuring fee. In addition, the
GROUP’s Parent Company undertook to secure up to EUR 10 000 000 working capital and capital investment
financing until 30 November 2020.
According to the liquidation plan of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation approved by the US Bankruptcy Court
on 4 December 2020, funds of the dissolved company were distributed among its third-party creditors,
including AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank. The disbursements reduced the principal amount of the Group’s
Parent Company’s indebtedness towards these creditors. In December 2020, the indebtedness of the GROUP’s
Parent Company to SEB Banka and Danske Bank was reduced by the US subsidiary’s bankruptcy proceeds in
the amount of EUR 10 623 852 (please see Note 28(d)).
On 9 December 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company, the Lenders and DUKE I S.A.R.L. (hereinafter – DUKE I)
signed a number of financing and security agreements, to take effect and enter into legal force, when all

48

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
conditions precedent to the completion of the share purchase agreement between DUKE I and the majority
shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent company had been fulfilled or waived and title to the shares had been
transferred to DUKE I. These agreements entered into legal force and consequently were carried out after 18
February 2021, when the share purchase agreement between DUKE I and the majority shareholders of the
GROUP’s Parent Company was executed and title to the shares transferred to DUKE I. According to the
agreements:
•

•

•

•

•

•

SEB provided a long-term loan facility of EUR 45 575 443 with the final repayment date on 27 April
2026. The loan facility was used to refinance the existing SEB loan facilities effective on 31 December
2020, and finance capital investment projects of the GROUP’s Parent Company. The loan principal is
repayable starting with the 36th month after the agreement date. The loan is secured with commercial
pledge of all assets of the GROUP and mortgages of the properties of the GROUP’s Parent company.
The loan interest rate is 3M EURIBOR + 1.5-2.5% p.a. depending on fulfilment of certain financial
covenants,
SEB provided a 10 million EUR overdraft facility with the repayment date being the date falling 5 years
from the date of the first drawdown of the overdraft. The facility is secured with commercial pledge
of all assets of the GROUP and mortgages of the properties of the GROUP’s Parent Company. The loan
interest rate is 3M EURIBOR + 1.5% p.a.,
SEB extended EUR 870 000 guarantee facility until 7 December 2021. The guarantee facility was
secured with commercial pledge of all assets of the GROUP and mortgages of the properties of the
GROUP’s Parent Company,
The GROUP’s Parent Company’s borrowings from Danske in the amount of EUR 45 568 799 were
assigned to DUKE I. Repayment of the loan is subordinated to repayment of bank loans, and the final
loan repayment date is the date falling 5 years from the date of the first drawdown of the loan. The
loan is secured with commercial pledge of all assets of the GROUP and mortgages of the properties
of the GROUP’s Parent Company. The loan interest rate is 4.5% p.a.,
DUKE I provided a EUR 5 000 000 unsecured loan. Repayment of the loan is subordinated to
repayment of bank loans, and the final loan repayment date is the date falling 5 years from the date
of the first drawdown of the loan. The loan interest rate is 10% p.a.
The GROUP’s Parent Company’s obligation to pay EUR 4 800 000 Restructuring fee to SEB and Danske
was waived.

The above loan agreements contain a number of financial covenants. The GROUP’s Parent Company fully
complies with these commitments.
Valmiera Glass UK Ltd
Valmiera Glass UK Ltd has concluded a short-term GBP 1 000 000 overdraft facility agreement with SEB Bank.
The annual loan interest rate ranges from 0.30 to 0.40% p.a. As at 31 December 2021, Valmiera Glass UK Ltd
had not used the loan facility (2020: GBP 0 (EUR 0).
The GROUP
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the indebtedness of the GROUP’s Parent Company and Valmiera Glass UK
Ltd. to the Lenders is secured by commercial pledge of all assets of the GROUP’s Parent Company and its
subsidiaries and mortgage of the GROUP’s Parent Company’s real estate located on Cempu iela 13, Cempu iela
13A, Cempu iela 13B, Cempu iela 11A, Cempu iela 11B, as well as land plots “Pie Gaujas” and “Piebraucamais
dzelzceļš”. The mortgaged properties are located in Valmiera, Latvia. The carrying amount of the above
properties amounts to EUR 2 375 735 (2020: EUR 2 411 503).
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12(b) Lease liabilities
GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
Non-current (up to five years)
Current
Total

502 878
466 821
969 699

503 544
767 183
1 270 727

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
332 761
374 429
707 190

551 250
406 276
957 526

The GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company do not have any significant liabilities with maturity over 5 years.
Movement of lease liabilities during the reporting period:
2021
GROUP
EUR
Lease liabilities 31.12.2020
Additions
Accrued interest
Payments
31.12.2021.

GROUP’s Parent Company
EUR
1 270 727
214 070
31 788
(546 886)
969 699

957 526
180 226
21 782
(452 344)
707 190

2020
GROUP
EUR
Lease liabilities 01.01.2019.
Additions
Accrued interest
Payments
31.12.2020.

GROUP’s Parent Company
EUR
1 534 527
330 970
37 080
(631 850)
1 270 727

1 334 291
56 568
28 507
(461 840)
957 526

The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss:
2021
GROUP
2021
EUR
Depreciation expense of right-of-use
assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Total

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
EUR
452 588
31 788
484 376

342 637
21 782
364 419

2020
GROUP
2020
EUR
Depreciation expense of right-of-use
assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Total

GROUP’s Parent Company
2020
EUR
462 981
37 080
500 061

333 781
28 507
362 288

The interest rate for the leases is variable 3-month EURIBOR and LIBOR and fixed rate 2.26%-2.91%.
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13.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP
31.12.2020.
EUR

31.12.2021.
EUR
Non-current financial liabilities:
Payables to other related parties (Note
28)
Taxes and social security contributions

4 035 303

-

4 035 303

-

262 642

879 047
879 047

272 642
4 307 945

879 047
879 047

-

1 178 379
1 178 379

-

1 178 379
1 178 379

4 307 945

2 057 426

4 307 945

2 057 426

5 367 766

7 932 763

5 205 648

7 723 067

-

-

120 782

320 806

4 307 945
Non-current non-financial liabilities:
Other payables

-

Total non-current

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

Current financial liabilities
Trade payables
Payables to subsidiaries (Note 28)
Payables to other related parties (Note
28)
Taxes and social security contributions

-

4 159 502

-

4 159 502

2 092 156
7 459 922

2 422 081
14 514 346

2 020 274
7 346 704

2 368 823
14 572 198

Accrued liabilities

2 379 519

2 282 172

2 334 818

2 276 937

Other payables

1 377 851

2 291 669

1 322 977

1 879 281

3 757 379

4 573 841

3 657 795

4 156 218

11 217 292

19 088 187

11 004 499

18 728 416

Current non-financial liabilities

Total current

13(a) Taxes and social security contributions
GROUP
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

Republic
of
Latvia
(Company)
Natural resource tax
Social security
contributions*
Personal income tax*
Enterprise risk duty
Corporate income tax

9 257

7 426

9 257

7 426

1 307 815
662 852
419
312 573

2 317 595
853 998
428
68 421

1 307 815
662 852
419
312 573

2 304 638
866 957
428
68 421

United Kingdom:
Personal income tax
and social security
contributions
Total

71 882
2 364 798

53 260
3 301 128

2 292 916

3 247 870

During years 2019 and 2020 the GROUP’s Parent Company has reached agreements with the State Revenue
Service on deferrals of social security contribution and personal income tax payments. As at 31 December
2021, the total amount of deferred tax payments amounted to EUR 912 718 (1 919 389 EUR).

51

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
13(b) Accrued liabilities

Accrual for vacations
Accruals for remuneration of
management
Accruals for employee bonuses
Accruals for client bonuses
Other
Total

GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
1 203 712
1 128 096
123 590
517 023
386 146
149 048
2 379 519

69 242
699 220
385 614
2 282 172

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
1 159 011
1 128 096
123 590
517 023
386 146
149 048
2 334 818

69 242
699 220
380 379
2 276 937

13(c) Other payables
GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
Non-current:
LBBW Bank
Total
Current:
Salary
LBBW Bank
Other
Total

14.

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

-

1 178 379
1 178 379

-

1 178 379
1 178 379

1 250 680
127 171
1 377 851

1 033 588
672 469
585 612
2 291 669

1 200 539
122 438
1 322 977

998 404
669 793
211 084
1 879 281

DEFINED BENEFIT (OBLIGATION)/ASSET

Subsidiary of the GROUP Valmiera Glass UK Ltd (Employer) operates a defined benefit pension scheme for
certain employees and for eligible employees, a scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay.
The fair value of the scheme assets and the present value of liabilities are as follows:
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

Shares/equity
Corporate bonds
Index-linked assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total pension plan assets
Present value of pension plan liabilities
Subsequent liabilities recognition

2 491 498
15 520 808
2 001 367
408 442
20 422 115
(19 680 682)
-

1 947 655
15 021 745
2 065 560
288 705
19 251 713
(20 615 663)
(3 475 025)

Total pension plan liabilities

(19 680 682)

(24 090 688)

741 433

(3 747 372)

741 433

(772 524)
(2 974 848)

Net pension plan (liabilities)/assets
Current portion
Non-current portion

On 27 May 2003, normal contributions to the defined benefit pension scheme were discontinued and
members’ benefits ceased to accrue for additional periods of service after 27 May 2003. The scheme will
continue to fund benefits accrued up to 27 May 2003.
The assets of the pension schemes are held separately from those of Valmiera Glass UK Ltd.
The appointment of Trustees is determined by the trust documentation.
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The Trustees of the Scheme invest the assets in line with the Statement of Investment Principles. The
Statement of Investment Principles has been established taking into consideration the liabilities of the Scheme
and the investment risk that the Trustees are willing to accept.
Under the Scheme Funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, the Trustees are required to carry
out regular scheme funding assessments and establish a schedule of contributions and a recovery plan when
there is a shortfall in the scheme. The recovery plan details the amount and timing of the contributions
required to eliminate the shortfall in the scheme. Scheme funding assessments are carried out at least every
three years. Approximate funding updates are produced annually in years where a full scheme funding
valuation is not being completed.
In accordance with IFRIC 14, at each scheme funding assessment the present value of the contributions
detailed in the current recovery plan is compared with any deficit measured. Where the contributions under
the current recovery plan are no longer sufficient to remove the shortfall by the end of period specified in the
recovery plan a new recovery plan will need to be agreed between the Trustees and the Employer. Options
include increasing contributions due from the Employer, extending the recovery period with additional
contributions paid after the expiry of the current recovery period or some combination of the two. The
affordability to the Employer of any increase in contributions is a primary factor in the agreement of any new
recovery plan.
Where the contributions are more than sufficient to remove the shortfall by the end of the recovery period,
options include reducing contributions due, keeping the recovery period the same, or shortening the recovery
period.
As part of the Scheme Funding Assessment as at 31 March 2019, a recovery plan was agreed between the
Trustees and the Employer to meet the shortfall over the period ending 31 May 2024. The future contributions
payable from the Balance sheet Date under the Recovery Plan are GBP 92 970 (EUR 110 429) per month from
January 2022 until December 2022 and 70 834 (EUR 84 300) per month from January 2023 until the end of
May 2024, subject to review at future scheme funding assessments.
The defined benefit pension scheme exposes the Employer to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest
rate risk, salary risk, market (investment) risk and currency risk.
The plan valuation is based on qualified actuarial valuation as of 31 December 2021. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation/asset, the related current service cost and past service cost were measured using
the projected unit credit method.
The principal assumptions at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
% p.a.
Discount rate
Future increases in deferred pensions
Rate of increase in pension payments – RPI (max 5%)
Rate of increase in pension payments – CPI (max 3%)

2021
%
1.80
2.95
3.45
2.40

2020
%
1.20
2.15
3.10
2.15
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Mortality assumptions
The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are:
2021
Years
Retiring today
- Males
- Females

21.90
24.30

2020
Years
21.90
24.20

Sensitivity of the net obligation to changes in assumptions
The sensitivity analysis shows what the present value of pension plan liabilities would be with the stated
changes in the assumptions (assuming all other assumptions remain constant).
The total employer contributions to the scheme in 2021 is estimated to be GBP 1 115 640 (EUR 1 327 723).
The duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14 years.

0.25% pa decrease in discount rate
0.25% pa increase in inflation and related assumptions
1 year increase in life expectancy

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

684 307
90 448
1 050 730

795 302
111 231
1 159 027

Movements in the fair value of plan assets:

At 1 January
Currency translation difference
Interest income
Return on plan assets (excl. interest)
Benefits paid
Contributions by the employer
At 31 December

2021
EUR
19 483 221
1 362 569
251 111
(892 575)
(1 085 371)
1 303 160
20 422 115

2020
EUR
19 251 713
(1 018 352)
343 936
1 596 044
(1 128 470)
999 060
19 483 221

2021
EUR
(20 928 111)
(1 545 736)
1 085 371
1 970 806
(263 012)
(19 680 682)

2020
EUR
(20 615 663)
1 098 140
1 128 470
(2 174 890)
(364 168)
(20 928 111)

2021
EUR
(1 956 012)
872 700
(2 408 652)

2020
EUR
2 174 890
(1 596 044)
(1 064 403)

(3 491 964)

(485 557)

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation:

At 1 January
Currency translation difference
Benefits paid
Actuarial gains and losses
Interest expense
At 31 December
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income:

Actuarial gains and losses
Return on plan assets (excl. interest)
Change in the effect of the asset ceiling
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation
15.

DEFERRED INCOME
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GROUP
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR

EU and other grants
Total non-current

1 281 754
1 281 754

1 556 794
1 556 794

1 281 754
1 281 754

1 556 794
1 556 794

EU and other grants

275 040

380 785

275 040

380 785

275 040
1 556 794

380 785
1 937 579

275 040
1 556 794

380 785
1 937 579

Total current
Total

In the period from 2012 through 2016, the GROUP’s Parent Company accomplished a number of investment projects
co-financed by the funds of European Union, Norwegian financial instrument and the Republic of Latvia to develop
the GROUP’s Parent Company’s manufacturing processes, facilitate new product development, reduce greenhouse
gas emissions and improve wastewater treatment. Total amount of co-financing received amounted to EUR
3 956 672. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company has complied with covenants of the
agreements concluded between the GROUP’s Parent Company and providers of financing.

16.

REVENUE

The GROUP’s core business is manufacturing of glass fibre products, including both non-woven products and glass
fibre fabrics.
16(a) Net sales by geography
GROUP
2021
EUR
EU
North America
CIS
Other
Total

79 666 229
11 210 877
2 488 273
11 213 111
104 578 490

2020
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

69 803 698
9 852 610
2 274 282
13 909 140
95 839 730

68 796 110
10 751 105
2 488 273
8 490 198
90 525 686

59 561 412
9 277 967
2 274 282
12 092 883
83 206 544

16(b) Net sales by product type
2021
EUR
Glass fibre fabrics
Glass fibre non-woven products
Total

71 154 644
33 423 846
104 578 490

GROUP
2020
EUR
64 363 118
31 476 612
95 839 730

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR
57 101 840
33 423 846
90 525 686

51 729 932
31 476 612
83 206 544

16(c) Net sales – other information
The GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP have not recognized any revenue in the current period that was
included in the opening contract liability balance.
No revenue was recognized in the current period from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.
No information is provided about remaining performance obligations at 31 December 2021 that have an
original expected duration of one year or less, as allowed by IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
The GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP do not have assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfil
contract with a customer.

17.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
2021

2020
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Revenue
Gain on derecognition of financial liabilities**
Elimination of inter segment items*
External revenue
Expenses
Elimination of inter segment expenses
External expenses
Results from operating activities
Corporate income tax
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax

EUR

EUR

-

3 565 640
135 070 223
(103 924 856)
374 711 007
(27 902 281)
2 351 428
(25 550 853)
9 160 154
9 160 154

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

-

982 243
15 321 310
(17 388 477)
(23 249)
(1 108 173)

Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operations

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash from / (to) investing activities
Net cash (to) / from financing activities
Foreign exchange differences
Net cash flows for the year

* In accordance with the approved liquidation plan, the P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was released from
the liabilities to repay its loans and borrowings and trade payables to its shareholders in the amount of USD
118 750 698 (EUR 103 924 856) and other creditors in the amount of USD 23 377 603 (EUR 20 467 172).
** The indebtedness of the GROUP’s Parent Company to its lenders SEB Banka and Danske Bank was partially
secured by the commercial pledge of the assets of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation. In accordance with
the approved liquidation plan, the lenders received disbursements from P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
in the total amount of EUR 10 623 852, and the indebtedness of the GROUP’s Parent Company to the lenders
was reduced accordingly. This one-off revenue item was triggered by the liquidation of P-D Valmiera Glass USA
Corporation, and the management of the GROUP’s Parent Company elected to attribute the debt forgiveness
income to the discontinued operations.
18.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
GROUP
2021
EUR

Release of accruals made in
previous periods*
Income from EU funding
Liquidation proceeds from PDVGUSA
Sale of raw materials
Furlough income
Received creditor bonus
Insurance indemnification
Profit from sales of fixed assets
Income from rent of premises
Management services
Other
Total

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

2020
EUR

790 301

-

790 301

-

380 785

380 785

380 785

380 785

359 032
131 274
92 078
56 223
25 235
20 205
7 683
178 996

44 073
10 006
7 683
458 968

375 550
131 274
56 223
25 235
20 205
7 683
511 381
156 250

44 073
2 700
7 683
240 000
452 034

2 041 822

901 515

2 454 897

1 127 275

* On 22 June 2017, the GROUP’s Parent Company issued a letter of guarantee for the benefit of US
commodities trader J.ARON & COMPANY as a security in relation to any loss that may be incurred by reason
of obligations continuing to be outstanding between the P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation and J.ARON &
COMPANY related to the lease of certain platinum and rhodium commodities.
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AS SEB Bank and AS Danske Bank had secured the guarantee obligations of the GROUP’s Parent Company in
the total amount of USD 1 500 000 (EUR 1 335 232), which were called by J.ARON & COMPANY in June 2019.
J.ARON & COMPANY notified P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation and the GROUP’s Parent Company that,
according to its estimates, the loss resulting from the termination of the precious metal lease agreement
exceeds AS SEB Bank and AS Danske Bank secured guarantee obligations amount.
Although based on estimates of the GROUP, the bank guarantee payments fully covered any loss incurred by
J.ARON & COMPANY GROUP’s Parent Company made additional accruals in case of additional claims from
J.ARON & COMPANY.
On 5 November 2021 the GROUP reached settlement with J.ARON & COMPANY, and the accrued liabilities in
the amount EUR 670 301 were reversed.
* Company released accruals in amount of EUR 120 000 made for consulting services regarding manufacturing
process optimization in 2019 that were not carried out.
The management services are provided by the GROUP’s Parent Company to its subsidiary Valmiera Glass UK
Limited and include in particular securing financing and insurance protection, provision of IT services, tax and
legal consultancy, controlling, etc.
19.

RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES
GROUP

Raw materials and other costs
Electricity
Natural gas
Oxygen
Precious metal plates processing costs
Other
Total

20.

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

30 803 142
4 792 069
3 832 464
989 444
847 211
214 408
41 478 738

25 959 395
6 129 945
4 058 171
787 100
955 544
123 666
38 013 821

25 710 102
4 296 678
3 450 779
989 444
847 211
213 345
35 507 559

21 631 715
5 716 500
3 751 771
787 100
955 534
122 504
32 965 124

PERSONNEL EXPENSES
GROUP

Salaries
State social security contributions
Illness and vacation expenses
Employee insurance
Bonuses
Other
Total
Average number of employees

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

20 863 511
5 179 355
2 571 157
209 319
459 150
756 616
30 039 108

19 640 332
4 790 256
2 186 991
198 678
446 798
691 283
27 954 338

1 266

1 285

GROUP’s Parent
Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR
17 059 521
4 700 963
2 571 157
155 600
438 318
680 215
25 605 774

16 147 689
4 356 147
2 186 991
156 012
443 594
616 323
23 906 756

1 146

1 159
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21.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
GROUP
2021
EUR

Fixed asset depreciation based on
straight line method
Depreciation of precious metal plates
based on production volume
Intangible asset amortization
Right-of-use assets depreciation
Total

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

2020
EUR

6 922 572

7 611 253

6 657 079

7 339 899

368 086
358 144
452 588
8 101 390

258 245
190 537
432 486
8 492 521

368 086
358 144
342 637
7 725 946

258 245
190 537
333 871
8 122 552

Please also see Notes 4 and 6.
22.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
GROUP’s Parent Company

GROUP
2021
EUR

Logistics and transportation
Cleaning and maintenance
Waste removal
Professional services
Loss from disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Work safety
Insurance
Rent
PR & Marketing
Property tax
Postage and communication
Training and development
Business trips
Office expenses
Inventory write off
Research and development
Events and non-business expense
Nature resource tax
Write-down to net realizable value for
inventories (note 7)
Other
Total

2020
EUR

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

7 046 213
4 135 498
1 660 046
869 620
747 094

5 425 859
3 245 816
1 101 868
1 584 801
114 732

6 289 170
3 533 694
1 538 489
565 487
747 094

4 888 123
2 707 355
990 226
1 201 860
114 732

698 570
385 301
277 028
275 738
268 297
258 199
223 213
188 193
88 523
83 532
69 924
59 361
35 500
(547 587)

627 031
363 680
227 787
193 916
261 082
120 806
123 582
178 569
80 580
282 634
33 835
33 330
28 728
730 415

632 364
273 371
206 885
269 815
75 411
220 717
223 213
82 146
25 539
41 060
39 910
58 997
35 500
(551 948)

577 842
258 848
165 282
193 912
75 495
83 529
123 582
90 771
19 174
282 634
6 832
30 518
28 728
1 113 036

158 200
16 980 463

122 929
14 881 980

139 576
14 446 490

103 729
13 056 208

In 2021, the GROUP did not receive non-audit services from the auditors of the financial statements (2020:
EUR 13 000). Total value of audit services provided to the GROUP by auditors of the GROUP’s Parent Company
in 2021 amounted to EUR 46 000 (2020: EUR 100 000).
23.

FINANCE INCOME
GROUP
2021
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

2020
EUR

Release of restructuring fees
Release of accrued interest

3 052 904
559 537

-

3 052 904
559 537

-

Foreign currency exchange gain
Other
Total

412 008
4 893
4 029 342

242 142
15 413
257 555

13 310
4 893
3 630 644

11 785
11 785
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24.

FINANCE COST
GROUP’s Parent Company

GROUP

Interest expenses on liabilities carried at
amortized cost
Loss from foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations
Interest expenses related to retirement
benefit
Fines and penalties
Other
Total

25.
25(a)

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

3 880 764

7 312 731

4 003 896

7 420 497

901 968

-

8 780

63 330

121 778
34 739
34 444
4 973 693

83 174
95 901
123 717
7 615 523

34 739
21 966
4 069 381

95 901
108 022
7 687 750

CORPORATE INCOME AND DEFERRED TAX
Income tax charges
GROUP
2021
EUR

2020
EUR

Corporate income tax and deferred tax recognized in profit or loss:
Current tax
173 867
Deferred tax
(170 476)
Total recognized in profit or loss
3 391
Deferred tax recognized in OCI:
Deferred tax on retirement benefit liability
Changes in deferred tax recognized in OCI

25(b)

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

85 928
8 351
94 279

344 028
344 028

85 928
85 928

(926 063)

(159 739)

-

-

(926 063)

(159 739)

-

-

Reconciliation of accounting profit/ (loss) to tax charges
GROUP from continuing operations
2021
2020*
EUR
EUR

Profit/(loss) before tax from
continuing operations
Tax effect of tax rate in United
Kingdom 19%
Tax effect of non-deductible
items
Corporate income tax and
deferred tax
Effective tax rate

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

5 292 024

(2 165 997)

4 841 371

(3 389 255)

94 901

(98 555)

-

-

(98 292)

4 276

(344 028)*

(85 928)*

(3 391)

(94 279)

(344 028)

(85 928)

0.06%

(4.35%)

7.11%

(2.54%)

Starting from the taxation year 2018, the corporate income tax for the GROUP’s Parent Company is calculated
for distributed profits (20/80 from the net amount payable to shareholders). Tax rate for non-distributed
profits is 0%. Corporate income tax is also paid on conditionally distributed profits (non-business related
disbursements, entertainment and donation costs exceeding certain criteria and similar).
* Conditionally distributed profit
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25(c) Deferred tax as of end of the year
GROUP
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

Temporary difference on depreciation of fixed assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

446 353
446 353

519 315
519 315

Temporary difference on retirement benefit
Total deferred tax assets

185 358
185 358

(712 001)
(712 001)

Net deferred tax (asset) / liability
Presented in statement of financial position
Deferred tax asset / (liability), net

631 711

(192 686)

(631 711)

192 686

25(d) Deferred tax as of end of the year
GROUP
Temporary difference originated on:
Fixed assets
Defined benefit
TOTAL
liabilities
EUR
540 025
(12 359)
(8 351)
-

EUR
(919 405)
47 665
159 739

EUR
(379 380)
35 306
(8 351)
159 739

519 315

(712 001)

(192 686)

97 514
(170 476)
446 353

(28 704)
926 063
185 358

68 810
(170 476)
926 063
631 711

31.12.2019.
Impact of currency fluctuation
Charge (credit) to profit and loss
Charges to OCI
31.12.2020.
Impact of currency fluctuation
Charge (credit) to profit and loss
Charges to OCI
31.12.2021.

26.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE
GROUP
2021
EUR

(Loss)/ profit for the year
Average number of shares outstanding
Profit (losses) per share
Dividends paid
Dividends per share

2020*
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

5 288 633

(40 947 347)

4 497 350

(3 475 153)

483 461 290

23 903 205

0.0109
-

(1.7130)
-

483 461 290
0.0093
-

23 903 205
(0.1454)
-

In years 2021 and 2020 no dividends were paid to the shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent Company.
During September 2021 the GROUP’S Parent Company reduced share capital from EUR 33 464 487 to EUR
2 390 203 therefore diluting share face value for outstanding 23 903 205 shares from EUR 1.4 to EUR 0.1. After
dilution of face value of shares GROUP’S Parent Company increased share capital from EUR 2 390 321 to EUR
48 346 129 and issued 435 115 161 additional shares total share amount reaching 438 461 290 with a face
value EUR 0.1.
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27.

MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
GROUP’s Parent Company

GROUP
2021
EUR

2020
EUR

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

Members of the Council:
Compensation
Social security payments

13 620

87 168

13 620

87 168

623

3 708

623

3 708

1 035 031

710 745

786 262

520 534

217 238

149 947

185 717

125 396

7 184

5 493

-

-

1 273 696

957 061

986 222

736 806

Members of the Board:
Compensation
Social security payments
Contribution to defined benefit
scheme
Total

In 2021 and 2020 the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company have not granted or received any loans from
the members of Council, Board or other management.

28.

28(a)

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Loans to related companies
31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

GROUP’s Parent Company
P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
Impairment allowance
Total

-

77 126 861
(77 126 861)
-

As per decision of the management of the GROUP’s parent Company P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was
dissolved on 15 February 2021 and the carrying amount of the GROUP’s Parent Company’s loans to P-D
Valmiera Glass USA as well recognized impairment allowance were written off.
As described in Note 5, the management of the GROUP’s Parent Company at 31 December 2020 believed that
the carrying amount of the GROUP’s Parent Company’s loans to P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation are not
recoverable. Impairment allowance in full amount of its loans to the Subsidiary EUR 77 126 861 was recognized
as at 31 December 2020 in the separate financial statements of the GROUP’s Parent Company.

61

AS VALMIERAS STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
28(b)

Borrowings from related companies
Interest rate

GROUP
Private persons
Controlling parties
Long term borrowings total

4%
4%-10%

31.12.2021.
EUR

31.12.2020.
EUR

16 627 450

100 000
-

16 627 450

100 000
2 967 905

Private persons

4%

-

Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP
Short term borrowings total

4%

-

8 338 511

-

11 306 416

16 627 450
-

100 000
2 672 589

16 627 450

2 772 589

4%

-

2 967 905

4%
2.5%-4%

4 406 560

8 338 511
1 700 000

4 406 560

13 006 416

GROUP’s Parent Company
Private persons
Controlling parties
Subsidiaries

4%
4%-10%
2.5%-4%

Long term borrowings total
Private persons
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP
Subsidiaries
Short term borrowings total

28(c) Lease liabilities to related companies
31.12.2021.
EUR
GROUP
Controlling parties
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP
Non-current lease liabilities total
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP
Current lease liabilities total
GROUP’s Parent Company
Controlling parties
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP’s Parent Company
Non-current lease liabilities total
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP’s Parent Company
Current lease liabilities total

31.12.2020.
EUR

19 740

-

-

55 411

19 740

55 411

-

68 554

-

68 554

19 740

-

19 740

55 411
55 411

-

68 554

-

68 554
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28(d)

Receivables from and payables to related parties

GROUP

31.12.2021.
Receivables

31.12.2021.
Payables

31.12.2020.
Receivables

31.12.2020.
Payables

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Controlling parties

Duke I S.a.r.l.
P-D Glasseiden GmbH Oschatz
P-D Management Industries-Technologies GmbH

-

4 035 303
-

651 554
-

3 438 550
112 917

Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP
P-D Preiss –Daimler Consulting
P-D Industriegesellschaft GmbH Bratendorf
P-D Industriegesellschaft Wetro
P-D Refractories GmbH
P-D Refractories CZ a.s
P-D Tatneft-Alabuga Steklovolokno
Preiss-Daimler FibreGlass AB
aNa-Consulting
Total

-

4 035 303

242 207
-

10 710
108 034
13 926
327 007
114 242
21 716
12 390
4 159 502

GROUP’s Parent Company

31.12.2021.

31.12.2021.

Receivables

Payables

EUR

EUR

124 740
1 018 501
31.12.2020.
Receivables
EUR

31.12.2020.
Payables
EUR

Controlling parties

Duke I S.a.r.l.
P-D Glasseiden Oschatz GmbH
P-D Management Industries –Technologies
Entities controlled by the parties controlling the
GROUP’s Parent Company
P-D Preiss –Daimler Consulting
P-D Industriegesellschaft GmbH Bratendorf
P-D Industriegesellschaft Wetro GmbH
P-D Refractories GmbH
P-D Refractories CZ a.s
P-D Tatneft-Alabuga Steklovolokno
P-D Industriegesellschaft Wetro
Preiss-Daimler FibreGlass AB
aNa-Consulting
Total other related parties
Subsidiaries
Valmiera Glass UK Limited
P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
Impairment allowances for receivables from P-D
Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
Total subsidiaries
Total

-

4 035 303
-

651 554
-

3 438 550
112 917

242 207
-

-

4 035 303

124 740
1 018 501

10 710
108 034
13 936
327 007
114 242
21 716
12 390
4 159 502

923 862
-

120 782
-

510 312
5 245 564

320 806
-

-

-

(4 622 425)

-

923 862

120 782

1 133 451

320 806

923 862

4 156 085

2 151 952

4 480 308

As of 2018 the GROUP’s Parent Company recognized 100% impairment allowances for its receivables and
claims from P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation (hereinafter – US Subsidiary).
On 14 January 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company’s Supervisory Council endorsed dissolution of the
operations of the US subsidiary, and sale of its property, plant, equipment and inventory to Saint-Gobain
Adfors America, Inc for the total price of USD 18.4 million (approximately EUR 16.4 million). As the result of
the planned dissolution of the US subsidiary, a fraction of the funds of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation
would be paid out to AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank, whose loans to the GROUP’s Parent Company were
secured with assets of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation (please see Note 12(a) Loans and Borrowings).
According to the agreements between the GROUP’s Parent Company and the banks, such disbursements
would reduce the GROUP’s Parent Company’s indebtedness to the banks.
On 4 December 2020, the liquidation plan of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was approved by the US
Bankruptcy Court. According to the liquidation plan, in December 2020 funds of the dissolved company were
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distributed among its third-party creditors. During 2020, AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank received such
bankruptcy proceeds in the amount of EUR 10 623 852, which reduced the Group’s Parent Company’s
indebtedness to AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank, as well as the recoverable amount of the debts of the US
subsidiary to the Group’s Parent Company.
During 2021 AS SEB Banka and AS Danske Bank received additional US subsidiary’s bankruptcy proceeds in the
amount of EUR 623 139, which the GROUP’s Parent Company had recognized as the recoverable amount of
the debts of the US subsidiary as at 31 December 2020 and additional EUR 358 836 that the GROUP’s Parent
Company had recognized as unrecoverable as at 31 December 2020.
In 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company increased impairment allowances against the debts of the US subsidiary
by EUR 958 012 (including EUR 92 170 effect of year 2020 EUR/USD exchange rate fluctuations on the carrying
amount of the debts of the US subsidiary).
On 15 February 2021 P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation was dissolved and the carrying amount of the
GROUP’s Parent Company’s loans to P-D Valmiera Glass USA as well previously recognized impairment
allowance were written off.

28(e)

Transactions with related parties
2021
EUR

2020
EUR

Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Interest expenses
Services received
Loans received
Loans repaid
Loans converted to equity

138 896
(205 769)
(1 637 271)
(30 468)
65 291 348
(10 845 000)
(45 391 205)

2 193 762
(532 461)
(440 801)
(369 211)
-

GROUP’s Parent Company

2021
EUR

2020
EUR

4 063 608
1 175 522
511 381
(134 795)

3 190 941
1 123 945
240 000
(135 165)

138 896
(204 769)
(40 468)
(1 637 271)
65 291 348
(10 845 000)
(45 391 205)

1 703 196
(532 461)
(369 211)
(440 801)
-

GROUP

Subsidiaries
Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Services provided
Interest expenses
Other related parties
Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Services received
Interest expenses
Loans received
Loans repaid
Loans converted to equity

29.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
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This note provides information about the GROUP’s financial instruments, including a summary of all financial
instruments held by the GROUP, specific information about each type of financial instrument and
information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgements and estimation
uncertainty involved.
The Group holds the following financial instruments:
GROUP
31.12.2021.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at
amortised cost
EUR

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
EUR

Total
EUR

8 471 707
9 179 295
17 651 002

-

8 471 707
9 179 295
17 651 002

-

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(74 737 508)

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(74 737 508)

EUR

EUR

Total

7 833 199
3 038 076
10 871 275

-

7 833 199
3 038 076
10 871 275

-

(95 067 196)
(1 270 727)
(15 393 393)
(111 731 316)

(95 067 196)
(1 270 727)
(15 393 393)
(111 731 316)

Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

31.12.2020.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

The Group’s Parent Company holds the following financial instruments:
ROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

Financial assets at
amortised cost
EUR

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
EUR

Total
EUR

6 888 363
7 216 828
14 105 191

-

6 888 363
7 216 828
14 105 191

-

(66 406 502)
(707 190)
(11 654 649)
(78 768 341)

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(78 768 341)
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31.12.2020.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

EUR

EUR

Total

6 767 427
1 316 810
8 084 237

-

6 767 427
1 316 810
8 084 237

-

(99 439 785)
(957 526)
(15 451 245)
(115 848 556)

(99 439 785)
(957 526)
(15 451 245)
(115 848 556)

The Company’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in Note 30.
30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables and other current
financial assets and liabilities, it is considered that their carrying amounts approximate their fair value. Majority
of non-current borrowings bear floating interest rates, which are adjusted based on the current financial
performance and perceived credit risk, and it is considered that fair values of non-current liabilities are also
not significantly different to their carrying amounts.
Fair value hierarchy
The GROUP uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data.
All GROUP’s financial assets and financial liabilities are classified in Level 3 excluding cash and cash equivalents
that are classified in Level 2.
GROUP
31.12.2021.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

Level 1
EUR

Level 2
EUR

Level 3
EUR

Total
EUR

-

9 179 295
9 179 295

8 471 707
8 471 707

8 471 707
9 179 295
17 651 002

-

-

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(74 737 508)

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(74 737 508)
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31.12.2020.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

31.12.2020.
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

EUR

EUR

EUR

Total

-

3 038 076
3 038 076

7 833 199
7 833 199

7 833 199
3 038 076
10 871 275

-

-

(95 067 196)
(1 270 727)
(15 393 393)
(111 731 316)

(95 067 196)
(1 270 727)
(15 393 393)
(111 731 316)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

EUR

EUR

EUR

Total
EUR

-

7 216 828
7 216 828

6 888 363
6 888 363

6 888 363
7 216 828
14 105 191

(66 406 502)
(707 190)
(11 654 649)
(78 768 341)

(61 999 942)
(969 699)
(11 767 867)
(78 768 341)

-

EUR

EUR

EUR

Total

-

1 316 810
1 316 810

6 767 427
6 747 427

6 767 427
1 316 810
8 084 237

-

-

(99 439 785)
(957 526)
(15 451 245)
(115 848 556)

(99 439 785)
(957 526)
(15 451 245)
(115 848 556)

Main financial instruments of the GROUP are trade receivables, trade payables, loans and borrowings, finance
lease, cash and its equivalents. The primary objective of these financial instruments is to ensure the necessary
financing for the GROUP. The GROUP also has other financial instruments, which arise due to its operating
activities. The GROUP also uses derivative financial instruments to minimize interest and foreign currency rate
risks.
Main financial risks which arise as a result of the use of the financial instruments are interest, currency, credit
and liquidity risks.
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Market risks
Interest rate risk
As at 31 December 2021 GROUP has outstanding loan with variable 3-month EURIBOR interest rate from credit
institutions (please see note 12 (a)).
GROUP
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
Currency

31.12.2021.
% rate
increase

Impact on
statement
of profit or
loss
(453 465)
453 465

EUR
EUR

+1,0
-1,0

GROUP’s Parent Company
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

31.12.2021.

Currency
EUR
EUR

% rate
increase
+1,0
-1,0

31.12.2020.
% rate
increase
+1,0
-1,0

Impact on
statement
of profit or
loss
-

31.12.2020.

Impact on
statement
of profit or
loss
(453 465)
453 465

% rate
increase
+1,0
-1,0

Impact on
statement
of profit or
loss
-

Foreign currency risk
The GROUP operates internationally and performs transactions mainly in EUR, USD and GBP. GROUP mainly is
exposed to foreign currency risk arising from USD and EUR fluctuations. Approximately 11% of total sales in
2021 resulted from contracts denominated in USD (2020: 9%).
The financial assets and liabilities of the GROUP, which are exposed to currency risk, are loans, cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and payables.
The net position in USD and EUR is directly exposed to a possible fluctuation in the exchange rate thus resulting
in direct effect to the GROUP’s profit/(loss) before tax.
Sensitivity analysis of financial assets and liabilities exposed to currency risk:
GROUP
31.12.2021.
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings and finance
lease obligations
Trade and other payables
Total net financial assets
% from net assets

EUR
1 709 175
1 600 821

USD
3 084 683
795 092

Total
4 793 858
2 395 914

(73 076)
(104 068)
3 132 852
20%

(431 417)
3 448 358
23%

(73 076)
(535 486)
6 581 210
43%

31.12.2020.
EUR
USD
Total
2 996 571
Trade and other receivables
1 139 399
4 135 970
Cash and cash equivalents
885 045
214 166
1 099 211
Borrowings and finance
lease obligations
(73 076)
(73 076)
(2 157 705)
Trade and other payables
(2 157 705)
Total net financial assets
1 951 368
1 053 032
3 004 400
% from net assets
(5)%
(3)%
(8)%
* The reporting and operating currency of the GROUP's Subsidiary Valmiera Glass UK Ltd. is GBP. The
subsidiary is exposed to currency risks in relation to its financial assets and liabilities in EUR and USD.
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31.12.2021.
Currency

Exchange rate
fluctuation
%
+10%
-10%
+10%
-10%

USD
USD
EUR
EUR

Impact on
statement of
profit or loss
EUR
344 836
(344 836)
313 285
(313 285)

31.12.2020.
Impact on
Exchange rate statement
fluctuation
of profit or
loss
%
EUR
+10%
105 303
-10%
(105 303)
+10%
195 137
-10%
(195 137)

Sensitivity analysis of financial assets and liabilities exposed to currency risk:
GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Total net financial assets
% from net assets

USD
2 929 109
560 958
(353 744)
3 166 322
31%

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2020.
Trade and other receivables
Borrowings and finance lease
Trade and other payables
Total net financial assets
% from net assets

USD
2 921 948
24 450
(2 157 705)
788 693
(2)%

Currency

USD
USD

31.12.2021.
Exchange rate Impact on
fluctuation
statement of
profit or loss
%
+10%
-10%

EUR
316 632
(316 632)

Total
2 929 109
560 958
(353 744)
3 166 322
31%

Total
2 921 948
24 450
(2 157 705)
788 693
(2)%

31.12.2020.
Exchange rate Impact on
fluctuation
statement of
profit or loss
%
+10%
-10%

EUR
78 869
(78 869)

To reduce potential adverse effects of USD and EUR currency fluctuations, the GROUP uses derivative financial
instruments for significant transactions. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the GROUP did not have open
derivative contracts for foreign currency exchange.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the GROUP if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations. The carrying amount of financial assets and contract assets represent the
maximum credit exposure.
In 2021, the impairment loss on trade and other receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers recognized in profit or loss of the GROUP resulted in additional allowances in the amount of EUR
69 (2020: reversal of 4 054). The GROUP’s Parent Company recognized additional individual allowances in the
amount of EUR 69 (2020: EUR 962 280).
The GROUP has significant exposure of credit risk with its customers. The GROUP’s policy is to ensure that
sales of products are carried out with customers having appropriate credit history. Some of the trade
receivables are insured. The GROUP has also set credit limits for each customer. Customers from countries
with increased risk and / or lack credit insurance are usually required to pay in advance.
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The GROUP establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect
of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that
relates to exposure of each customer.
At 31 December, the exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables and contract assets by geographic
regions was as follows:
GROUP
Europe
North America
CIS countries
Other
Total
GROUP’s Parent Company
Europe
North America
CIS countries
Other
Total

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.

4 736 240
1 116 707
249 755
1 226 380
7 329 082

5 009 751
572 699
317 786
916 212
6 816 448

31.12.2021.

31.12.2020.

3 186 691
892 656
249 755
731 335
5 060 437

3 911 145
1 148 379
317 876
910 737
6 288 137

Expected credit loss assessment for all customers which are not individually assessed as at 31 December
2021
The GROUP uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and other receivables from debtors.
Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated separately for exposures for each entity
of the group.
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other
receivables and contract assets from debtors assessed collectively as at 31 December 2021.
EUR
31 December 2021
GROUP
Not due - 30 days past due
31 - 60 days past due
61 - 90 days past due
91 - 180 days past due
180 - 360 days past due
Above 360 days past due
Total

Loss rate
0.08%-1.33%
0.91%-11.09%
1.23%-32.87%
1.47%-34.62%
1.87%-34.62%
100%

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Impaired or not

6 621 646
273 785
72 420
131 615
199 555
30 062

30 335
8 934
891
1 931
60 234
30 062

No
No
No
No
No
Yes

7 329 083

132 387
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EUR
31 December 2021
GROUP’s Parent Company

Average loss
rate

Not due - 30 days past due
31 - 60 days past due
61 - 90 days past due
91 - 180 days past due
180 - 360 days past due
Above 360 days past due

0.08%
0.91%
1.23%
1.47%
1.87%
100%

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Impaired or not

4 588 849
210 440
72 420
131 615
27 052
30 062

3 598
1 908
891
1 931
506
30 062

No
No
No
No
No
Yes

5 060 438

38 896

Total

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience in years 2021 and 2020. Loss rates to be applied are taken
for one of the years during which economic conditions in the geographic region were most close to current
economic conditions and the GROUP’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
When evaluating economic conditions, the GROUP considers GDP growth rates in each geographic region.
In addition to the evaluation of expected credit losses according to IFRS on collective basis, the GROUP and
GROUP’s Parent Company assess trade receivables outstanding balances individually. As no significant
differences between individual and collective evaluation identified, GROUP and GROUP’s Parent Company
does not recognize expected credit losses according to IFRS on collective basis additionally to individual
assessment.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company have established allowances
for impairment of the carrying amount of loans and receivables, which can be disclosed as follows:
GROUP
2021
EUR
Allowances for trade accounts receivable (please
see Note 8)
Allowances for loans to subsidiaries (please see
Note 26)
Allowances for trade and other receivables from
subsidiaries (please see Note 28)
Total

GROUP’s Parent Company
2021
2020
EUR
EUR

2020
EUR

30 062

326 125

30 062

326 125

-

-

-

77 126 861

-

-

-

4 622 425

30 062

326 125

30 062

82 075 411
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Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets
during the reporting period was as follows.
GROUP
Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year
Amounts written off
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31 December
GROUP’s Parent Company
Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year
Amounts written off
Effect of movement in exchange rates
Balance at 31 December

2021
EUR
326 125
69
(296 132)
30 062

2020
EUR
1 198 990
(4 054)
(868 811)
326 125

82 075 411
69
(82 045 418)
-

84 042 748
958 012

30 062

82 075 411

2 925 349

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with adequate
credit history.
Loans issued
As at 31 December 2021 the GROUP’s Parent Company has not issued any loans to related parties.
The GROUP monitors changes in credit risk by regularly reviewing financial statements of debtors, external
ratings if they are available.
The exposure to credit risk for loans issued and measured at amortized cost at the reporting date by geographic
region was as follows.
North America
Total

31.12.2021.
-

31.12.2020.
77 126 861
77 126 861

As at 31 December 2020 100% impairment allowances for the above loan amount were recognized (please see
Note 28).
The GROUP does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with adequate
credit history.
Guarantees
As at 31 December 2021, the GROUP’s companies have not issued any guarantees.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the GROUP will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The GROUP’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to the GROUP’s reputation.
In order to maintain sufficient liquidity level, the GROUP’s Parent Company uses various financial instruments
such as long-term and short-term financing of banks, shareholder loans, trade payables.
GROUP uses a liquidity planning tool. The GROUP constantly monitors its liquidity and performs weekly rolling
cash flow forecasting.
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In order to restructure its short-term liabilities, in June 2019 P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation filed a
voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 in the United States Bankruptcy Court and the GROUP’s Parent
Company initiated the legal protection plan (LPP), which was approved by the Court on 18 October 2019.
After finishing sale of controlling interest of the Company to financial investor Duke I S.a.r.l. in February 2021
in order to improve liquidity Company reorganized its outstanding debts.
As disclosed in Note 12(a), on 9 December 2020, the GROUP’s Parent Company concluded and later carried
out a number of agreements including additional 10 million EUR overdraft facility provided by SEB and 5 million
loan provided by DUKE I.
Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities are following:
GROUP
31.12.2021.
EUR
Borrowings and finance
lease
Interest on borrowings
Trade accounts payable
and other financial
liabilities
Total EUR
31.12.2020.
EUR
Borrowings and finance
lease
Interest payable
Trade accounts payable
and other liabilities
Total EUR

Less than 6
months

6-12 months

From 1-2 years

From 2-5
years

More than 5
years

Total

277 843
618 041

214 975
542 082

302 001
1 101 406

66 188 138
1 595 140

21 983
-

67 004 940
3 856 669

7 156 470
8 052 354

303 453
1 060 510

272 642
1 676 049

4 035 302
71 818 580

21 983

11 767 867
82 629 476

Less than 6
months

6-12 months

From 1-2 years

From 2-5
years

More than 5
years

Total

346 745
2 131 312

94 610 908
1 077 032

515 818
-

349 734
-

6 088
-

95 829 293
3 208 344

17 244 976
19 723 033

1 149 164
96 837 104

606 912
1 122 730

349 734

6 088

19 001 052
118 038 689

Less than 6
months

6-12 months

From 1-2
years

From 2-5 years

More than 5
years

Total

231 647
618 041

4 541 368
542 082

229 494
1 101 406

66 092 773
1 595 140

19 740
-

71 115 022
3 856 669

10 781 996
11 631 684

303 453
5 386 903

272 642
1 603 542

4 035 302
71 723 215

19 740

15 393 393
90 635 084

Less than 6
months

6-12 months

From 1-2 years

From 2-5
years

More than 5
years

Total

294 458
2 197 312

96 258 622
1 737 032

3 109 964
132 000

213 875
-

-

99 876 919
4 066 344

17 267 314

1 149 164

606 912

-

-

19 023 390

19 759 084

99 144 818

3 848 876

213 875

-

122 966 653

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
EUR
Borrowings and finance
lease
Interest on borrowings
Trade accounts payable
and other liabilities
Total EUR
31.12.2020.
EUR
Borrowings and finance
lease
Interest payable
Trade accounts payable
and other liabilities
Total EUR
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Capital management
The capital structure of the GROUP consists of borrowings, which are disclosed in Note 12, and items presented
within equity in the statement of financial position. The GROUP’s board manage the GROUP’s capital structure
and make adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. The capital structure is reviewed on an
ongoing basis.
GROUP
31.12.2021.
EUR
Loans and borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Equity
Debt to equity

62 969 641
(9 179 295)
53 790 346
14 809 851
363%

31.12.2020.
EUR
96 337 923
(3 038 076)
93 299 847
(40 594 060)
-230%

GROUP’s Parent Company
31.12.2021.
31.12.2020.
EUR
EUR
67 113 692
(7 216 828)
59 896 864
9 870 661
607%

100 397 311
(1 316 810)
99 080 501
(40 582 491)
-244%

In 2020, the capital structure of the GROUP’s Parent Company and the GROUP was still negatively affected by
the weak operating and financial performance of P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation, as disclosed in Note 5.
In order to improve the GROUP’s Parent Company’s and GROUP’s capital structure, on 28 October 2020, the
GROUP’s Parent Company’s majority shareholders and DUKE I S.a.r.l. concluded a Share Sale and Purchase
Agreement to become effective when certain conditions have been fulfilled.
On 18 February 2021, the Share Sale and Purchase Agreement between GROUP’s Parent Company’s majority
shareholders and DUKE I S.a.r.l. was concluded and according steps were carried out to improve capital
management structure as disclosed in Management report and note 12(a).
As disclosed in Notes 11 and 12, in order to improve the GROUP Parent Company’s capital structure, during
2021 Duke I S.à.r.l converted into equity its loan to the GROUP’s Parent Company in the amount of EUR
45 391 205. A number of minority shareholders participated in the share capital increase with cash
contribution in the amount of EUR 564 603, and the total share capital increase amounted to EUR 45 955 808.

31.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

After the Russian army's invasion of Ukraine on February 24, 2022, as well as the applicable sanctions against
the Russian Federation and Belarus, the GROUP suspended deliveries to customers in Belarus and the Russian
Federation. In 2021, the GROUP's turnover to these countries amounted to 1,4 million EUR. The cessation of
sales to customers in the Russian Federation and Belarus, as well as suspending of procurement of raw
materials and equipment from these countries, have no significant impact on the GROUP's and the GROUP’s
Parent Company’s turnover, as sales of products will be diverted to other markets.
In February 2022 shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent Company decided to increase the par value of a share
from EUR 0.10 to EUR 2.00 and reduce the number of shares. As the result, the total share capital was
insignificantly reduced from EUR 48 346 129 to EUR 48 345 224.
Subsequently, in April 2022, the shareholders of the GROUP’s Parent Company decided to reduce the par value
of a share from EUR 2.00 to EUR 0.10, leading to the reduction of the share capital by EUR 45 927 963 to EUR
2 417 261. The proceeds from the share capital reduction were used to reduce the accumulated loss of the
company and increase its reserves, and the total amount of the shareholder’s equity of the GROUP and the
GROUP’s Parent Company remained unchanged. The purpose of these activities was to improve the structure
of the GROUP’s Parent Company’s Shareholder’s equity – as the result, as of 14 April 2022, AS VALMIERAS
STIKLA ŠĶIEDRA is no longer classified as an undertaking in difficulty according to the regulations of the
European Union (EU), and is permitted to receive EU funding, grants and subsidies, which will facilitate the
development and competitiveness of the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company.
There are no other subsequent events since the last date of the financial year until the date of signing of these
financial statements, which would have a significant effect on the financial position of the GROUP and the
GROUP’s Parent Company as at 31 December 2021.
32.

COVID-19 impact
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During preparation of these Financial statements, we considered the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic and its
current and future potential effects on the GROUP and the GROUP’s Parent Company. We have reflected the
impact of the outbreak in the measurement of assets and liabilities in the financial statements.

33.

Distribution of profit proposed by the Board

Profit share of the GROUP’s Parent company to be distributed
Proposed profit distribution:
Keep undistributed

EUR 4 497 350
EUR 4 497 350
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of AS Valmieras stikla šķiedra
Our opinion on the statement of financial position of the Group and on the separate
financial statements of the Group’s Parent Company
In our opinion, the accompanying statement of financial position of the Group and separate financial
statements of the Group’s Parent Company set out on pages 15 to 75 of the accompanying consolidated
and separate annual report give a true and fair view of the financial position of AS Valmieras stikla
šķiedra (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as at 31 December 2021, and of the
Company’s financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021 in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Disclaimer of opinion on the financial performance and cash flows of the Group
We do not express an opinion on the accompanying statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the Group and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion on the financial
performance and cash flows of the Group section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.
What we have audited or were engaged to audit
The Group’s and the Company’s consolidated and separate financial statements comprise:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
the statement of comprehensive income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the statement of financial position of the Group’s Parent Company as at 31 December 2021,
the statement of comprehensive income of the Group’s Parent Company for the year ended 31
December 2021,
the statement of changes in equity of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the statement of changes in equity of the Group’s Parent Company for the year ended 31
December 2021,
the statements of cash flows of the Group and the Group’s Parent Company for the year ended
31 December 2021, and
the notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, which include significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for disclaimer of opinion on the financial performance and cash flows of the
Group
As stated in Note 5, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
includes financial information of the Group’s subsidiary, P-D Valmiera Glass USA Corporation (“VSS
USA”), which was disposed of on 15 February 2021. We were not able to obtain the subsidiary’s financial
information as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended. As a result, we were unable to
determine whether any adjustments would be necessary in respect of the statement of comprehensive
income of the Group, statement of changes in equity of the Group, and the statement of cash flows of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. The predecessor auditor issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 due to the same
reason.
PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA
Kr. Valdemāra iela 21-21, Rīga, LV-1010, Latvia, LV40003142793
T: +371 6709 4400, F: +371 6783 0055, www.pwc.lv
Translation note: This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Latvian. All possible care has
been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of
information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Basis for our opinion on the statement of financial position of the Group and the
separate financial statements of the Company
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the Republic
of Latvia (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion on the statement of financial position of the Group and the separate financial statements of
the Company.
Independence
We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements of the
Law on Audit Services that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code and the ethical requirements of the Law on Audit Services.

Reporting on other information including the management report
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:
●

General information, as set out on page 4 of the accompanying consolidated and separate
annual report,

●

the Management Report, as set out on pages 5 to13 of the accompanying consolidated and
separate annual report,

●

the Statement on Management Responsibilities, as set out on page 14 of the accompanying
consolidated and separate annual report,

but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and on the separate
financial statements does not cover the other information.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
With respect to the Management Report, we also performed the procedures required by the Law on
Audit Services. Those procedures include considering whether the Management Report is prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Law on Annual Reports and Consolidated Annual Reports.
Based on the work undertaken in the course of our engagement:
●

in our opinion, in all material respects, the information given in the Management Report on the
financial position of the Group and on the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of
the Company for the financial year for which the consolidated and separate financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements,

●

due to of the significance of the matter explained in the section Basis for disclaimer of opinion on
the financial performance and cash flows of the Group, we were unable to determine whether the
information given in the Management Report on the results of operations and cash flows of the
Group for the financial year for which the consolidated and separate financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements, and

●

because of the significance of the matter explained in the section Basis for disclaimer of opinion on
the financial performance and cash flows of the Group, we do not express an opinion whether the

Translation note: This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Latvian. All possible care has
been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of
information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.
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Management Report has been prepared in accordance with requirements of the Law on Annual
Reports and Consolidated Annual Reports.
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the
course of our audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the other
information. We report the following in this respect: we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the other financial information with respect to
performance and cash flows of the Group because of the matter described in the Basis for disclaimer of
opinion on the financial performance and cash flows of the Group section of our report.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated and separate financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial

●
●
●

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue
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as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA
Certified audit company
Licence No. 5

Ilandra Lejiņa
Member of the Board
Certified auditor in charge
Certificate No. 168

Riga, Latvia
28 June 2022
Independent Auditor's Report is signed electronically with a secure electronic signature and contains a
time stamp.
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